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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

A\ Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APAC
Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 101 to 243 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

VRS

BEEEE () SMEBAMERAR
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Refer to accounting policy note 2(d) and disclosure in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
HRELSEE

FRRFZEE

FAREZEERBBEAREEN 2 BXEH
b - WARZBENEZARRERS M@K
EWRER TR - ARBEMERBEZS
EMBHRRMANEMEAEREZETS
B MASREEEREFERER -

FOME A MR )N T
FRMEE SRR B AR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FERBMEERPREZEE LT

We identified the impairment loss of the Group’s interest Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
in an associate in Australia, namely Mount Gibson of the Group’s interest in MGX included:

Iron Limited (“MGX”), as a key audit matter due to the NZHEIAR BEBERMCXER 2 BEN G2 EZIZ
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial F&#E :

statements as a whole, combined with the significant

estimation and judgement involved by the management of e

the Group in determining the recoverable amount of MGX.
RIZBEMIE & 5 B pOR N EE 2 2 7] (BlMount Gibson
Iron Limited([MGX 1)) Z #% 2 BEE B AR EZE
B REAREBAKEGAVEBRRERMNEEEX
B BEEBEEEENETEMGXAIRE SRR MEXGRT
Ko o

As set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the recoverable amount of MGX are
determined by the management of the Group with
reference to the higher of its value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
management of the Group to estimate the present value
of the future cash flows expected to arise from dividends
of MGX which is estimated based on the cash flows from
the operations of MGX and the proceeds on the ultimate
disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into account the
estimated future prices and production volume of hematite
iron ores of MGX, a suitable discount rate and historical
dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less costs of
disposal of MGX is determined by reference to the closing
price of its shares listed on the ASX as at 30 June 2020.
BAnGR S B R M EE3ATE - MGX 2 AT E & 58 T
B BESEEREELLZHEABAERATERBMEEXA
RrEREREMERE AHERAEER - ESEEEES
ZHEAMCXIRETASEELE Z RRBEREZIRE - A
HET IR BEMOXE E 1S IR @M 8 A R&LZHEMGXZ
FISRIEMSH - &P 5t RMGXTRETEA M bt R IRER
itHtEEZ - ETHEEUARMCGXZBEIREE - MGX
ZATFEREERNARTI2ERENRZA ETRON -
TFENA=ZTAZUMEESE -

Understanding the impairment assessment of
the Group’s interest in MGX performed by the
management of the Group, including the valuation
model adopted and key assumptions used;

T EEEERERNIMCXZ EREIT ZMER
it BREARBZHEEEREMERZ E2M|ER

Evaluating the key assumptions and inputs used by
the management of the Group in the value in use
calculation, including the future cash flows expected
to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated
based on the cash flows from the operations of
MGX and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of
MGX and the discount rate used, with reference
to historical performance and publicly available
information;

Al EEEERENGEEREBERMAEABZE
ZRBLRBABIE - BREERMGXELMEEH SR
B REEHEMCXZ FIERIBARKE2EZRERE
K AFARISE B S H T ER A 2 #TER E {51 2 MGX
BRETRHAKESZ RRRERE

Checking the closing price of the shares of MGX
which are listed on the ASX as at 30 June 2020;
HREMGXIRZ T EROR_E_TF A=+
H2ZWmhE :



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BAREFXEE@®)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERELEBE TERBMEERTREZBE2H

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial e
statements, the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in MGX, which represents the fair value less costs
of disposal, is lower than its carrying amount. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of HK$580,014,000 in respect of the
Group’s interest in MGX is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year and it results in
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in MGX of
HK$1,320,852,000 as at 30 June 2020.
BANGRE IS MR 16PTIRE - EEENMGXZ R
Z ARl (ER FEROENA)ERERKREE -
bt RFEEFEEERRE SRENMCXZ #ERRE
JE18580,014,0008 7T * B BEEENMCXZHERN
T ZFRNA=THZRAER,320,852,000/8 7T °

Comparing the result of the value in use calculation
with the fair value less costs of disposal of the
Group’s interest in MGX, which is determined by
reference to the closing price of shares of MGX as
at 30 June 2020, when determining the recoverable
amount of the Group’s interest in MGX;

RETE BEXEERMGXZ 2 AT e EEE - Lt
RERAEEFEEREZ2EMCXRMNN-ZE=ZF
NA=ZTRZEMEETH BESERMCEXZiER
ZAVFERBEHERA

Comparing the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in MGX with its carrying amount; and

8 BERENMGX 2 #52 AT @ & 78 B H AR
B Rk

Recalculating the impairment loss of the Group’s
interest in MGX.
EFETE EEERMGXZ = 2 REEEEE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 2(i) and disclosure in notes 19 and

32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
BREXSE

The measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) requires
the application of significant judgement which include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL
models, such as the probabilities of default, loss given
default, expected future cash flows and forward looking
macroeconomic factors.
EHEERR(ABEEBRNAEZKEAERY
b - BEBIIEELERBRERCNER  AREREES
EBER R AR - PIREABEE - BRIEKAE - JEH]
BARKIR REBMATE N ZELBERE -

Due to the subjectivity inherent in the estimation of ECL
allowances, we considered this as a key audit matter.
AAMEFTTEREEEERESEAN B - NZEAR
BT — IR EZEIE -

B EAZETE (@)

FE2HRE B RERM T2 K
R MFE19 32K BE LKL »

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FREMEBRRPEEZBRZA X

Our audit procedures included the following:

AEBENBZIZFT -

Assessing controls over the origination,
segmentation, ongoing internal credit quality
assessments, recording and monitoring of loan
receivables;

AR RS RNESE - D8 -
BAE - R EB RS

Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

arfh E BEFIERET ANER - BHREEER

FEAREEE

EARES BREEEBEEEHEMANRA
%ﬂiéﬁﬁx& EHEEERFENBEEREN
I

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model input, model design,
model performance and calculation;

Al BEEEEMEEEBREANAEN - 81
R A\ BUE - HAIRET - BAVRBLETE

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime
ECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

T EEEFEEERRELCEZENBE
CREEMNBERZEBEBREEBEEEFE
KB MR AR AR & B

Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments;
BERELEBRIEESRREAMNBENNARIREEAEGSD
EAETHER - WA RN SR

Reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

ma EEEHEHAKREERENRE B
AR5 SERN S RERmRER &
Assessing the financial statement disclosures
relating to the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

S BB R BB R R -



INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 25 September 2020

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number PO0712
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF {HFeE&%

PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HEZ
Notes
HiaF
Revenue &
Trading of goods HmES
Interest income FLEHA
Total revenue Wz 4858 6
Cost of sales SHE KA
Gross profit EF
Other gains and losses HAb s B8 7
Other income HAplg A 8
(Impairment loss)/reversal of REtE Rl 2 w2 16
impairment loss on interests in CREER) BRRE
associates, net B85
Administrative expenses 1THE A
Finance costs %Eé{ﬁXK 9(a)
Share of results of associates PaN Yk NI 16
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBAT(EE), S F 9
Income tax credit/(expense) Frissiige,/ (%) 10

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 772 T A AFEIEEE

to owners of the Company (E518), % H
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(ER), 287
(expressed in HK cents) (LABNF)T)
— basic —EAK 14

The notes on pages 109 to 243 form part of these consolidated financial ~ £109E 243 B MM A% E 54

“EFEANAZTHLESE

2020
SE L
HK$’000
T8

367,690

68,837

436,527
(386,639)

49,888
(56,684)

25,735
(549,614)

(45,032)
(240)
146,545

(429,402)

1

(429,401)

(35.23)

statements. 22 o

2019
—N&F
HK$’000
TAT

51,099

58,128

109,227
(51,818)

57,409

(341,250)
16,803
643,439

(38,871)
(2,020)
273,750

609,260
(828)

608,432

68.04

B BHRE

Details of dividends paid or payable to owners of the Company are set B2 skfEN AR THA A 2R E 155
out in Note 13. RHTEE1S ©



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2020

(Loss)/profit for the year w(ER), i Fl

Other comprehensive (expense)/ B2 E(EZH), Mz

income, net of tax ($0BRFRIB)
ltems that may be reclassified ARENERBREFNHSESE
subsequently to profit or loss: B 7IER ¢

Exchange differences on BERENRREL

translation of associates 2 N ZRE
Exchange differences on HE E MG INSETE
translation of other foreign EEZERERE
operations
Share of other comprehensive Db —MEBE QR 2
income of an associate, net H b2 mEEs (F0Bk
of related income tax FRRARTISEL)

ltem that will not be reclassified to @ EHHDEEEZ
profit or loss: ZIEH
Share of other comprehensive DME—MEBERRZ
income of an associate, net Hip e mlzs
of related income tax (FBRFEREFTS )

Other comprehensive expense & Wﬁﬁﬂ’i\ﬁﬁi et
for the year, net of income tax (FARREF1SHR)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ ARAREE AERER

income for the year attributable to (£ ),z
owners of the Company

The notes on pages 109 to 243 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

SARAR

Eﬂhéﬁl&ﬂi

“ECTRFEANAZTHIESFE

2020
S
HK$’000
Tt

(429,401)

(30,625)

(2,047)

180

(32,492)

5,104

(27,388)

(456,789)

F109E 243 B I s K

=2 —EbD ©

2019
—NE&F
HK$’000
TAET

608,432

(65,017)

(4,731)

669

(59,079)

3,375

(55,704)

552,728



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 30 June 2020

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in associates
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Loan receivables
Loan notes

Rental deposits
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets at FVTPL

Loan receivables

Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Total assets

BE

FRBEE

WE - BE&RME

NN o

BAFERERREE
(B2 FERBERR
BE|)zSREE

FEWE R

ERER

HEZE

EETREE

RBEE

E3

B 5 M E AR
BAHENBRREE
ZEREE
FEWE R
EHEMRITIFR
RITHEBRNIRE

AEEAE

Notes

Hrat

15
16
18

19
20
21

25(a)

17
21
18

19
22
22

FaEMBRRE

AA —
N
-

T FA=1H

2020
—E-%r
HK$’000
Tt

5,653
1,525,576
76,379

317,813
3,916
539

646

1,930,522

108,356
43,568
640,472

151,063
88,611
564,039

1,596,109

3,526,631

2019
—Z—NF
HK$’000
FAET

1,368
1,904,461
307,880

51,168

2,264,877

53,802
26,072
392,102

401,418
74,711
814,547

1,762,652

4,027,529



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT A TSR (B)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

At 30 June 2020 RZBE-ZEFXA=1+H
2020 2019
—EC-EHE —ZT-hHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FET FHBT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BREREE
Capital and reserves BRAR#E
Share capital A% A 29(b) 1,218,894 1,218,894
Other reserves HE M 251,991 287,231
Accumulated profits iyl 1,964,923 2,508,362
3,435,808 4,014,487
Non-current liability kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 761 =
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B S5 MEHMEMNERER 23 85,443 12,811
Tax payable FERFIE 876 231
Lease liabilities HEBRE 24 3,743 =
90,062 13,042
Total liabilities EEHEE 90,823 13,042
Total equity and liabilities REREBEHEEE 3,526,631 4,027,529
Net current assets REEEZE 1,506,047 1,749,610
Total assets less total liabilities EEAERAGHALE 3,435,808 4,014,487

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on HEFENR-_Z_FTFAA-+THAH#E

25 September 2020. RIXpEREK o
Arthur George Dew Andrew Ferguson
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 109 to 243 form part of these consolidated financial ~ 55109ZE 243 & I W s B AR 3% S 47 A B 16 5]
statements. RZ—EBID o

II 04 APAC Resources Limited 55 K& R AR A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT FeREFHER
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE
Investment Capital
Share Share  Special revaluation Exchange redemption Accumulated Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits equity
REEf EXRE

Bx  BHRE BHEE i EiRRE B Y REAR
HKB000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO000  HKS000  HK§000  HK$O000
tAr TEn Ter Thr TEr  TRr  TRr  TEn

(note () (note i)
(i) (i)
At1 July 2018 R=E-\E+h-H 19217 172,08 (14,980) 14,900 56,885 79436 1947647 3,061,247
Profit for the year EREH = = = = = = 608432 608432
Other comprenensive income/lexpense) ~ FEEH2ENE /(%) - - - 4044 (50.749) - - B5T0)
for the year
Total comprefensive income{expense) FE2ENE/(Xi)eE - = - 4084 (59749) - 608432 55278
for the year
Shares issued under rights issue ( ote29) RIEREEIRAAE29) 406298 40630 = = = - - W98
Transaction costs attrioutable to HRERZ SRR - (8,344) - - - - - (8.344)
rights issue
Dividends recogrised as distrioution (Note 19) B2&2 R E(Hit13) 17,319 2,326 = = = - (W (2807
At30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 RZE-NEAR=TRR 1218894 206,694 (14,980) 18,944 (2,863 79436 2,508,362 4,014,487
“Z-NEEA-R
Loss for the year EEEE = = = = = - [49401)  (429.401)
Other comprehensive income/{expense) EEEMRERE /(R - - - 584 (32,672 - - (21389
for the year
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ E2E R &8 - - - 5084 (32672 - (429401)  (456,789)
Share of reserve movements of an associate  7{E—TEHA AT EiES - - - (1892 - = 7,852 =
Dividends recognised as distribution (Note 13 B354 EAIRE(Hrit13) 5 = = = = - (121,800 (121,890)
At 30 June 2020 ey 1218894 206,694 (14,980) 16,376 (35,539) 79436 1,964,923 3,435,808
Notes: Hiat -

()  The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of () FFRIFEEIEFTUEENT B A 7l 2 B AEEEA
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the ANEIR—NNNFEBEEARFR K EMEIT 2
share capital of the Company issued for the acquisition at the time of a group RATEZ 2 Z5 -
reorganisation in 1998.

(i)  The capital redemption reserve represents the par value of ordinary shares (i) BAEEZEEAD RN BAFERRD L RAL
transferred from accumulated profits upon repurchase of these shares by the B RihafER s ZSRMNEE -
Company in previous years.

The notes on pages 109 to 243 form part of these consolidated financial ~ $5109F 243 E M i Az T4 A M IERE
statements. Z—8Mp °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

FERERER

BHE_Z-ZFA=Z+HIFE

Notes
Htat
Operating activities FCF S
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRFLAT(E18), =
Adjustments for: TYIEEEH T -
Depreciation of property, YE -« BB MKEE 9(c)
plant and equipment ZIE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {F B EZITE 9(c)
Loss arising from changes in BATERERERRIEZ 7

fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL, net

Loss arising from deemed
disposal of partial interest in
an associate

SMEEATES
T L 2 WP
REEHER-MBERT 7
B ST 2 iR

Impairment loss/(reversal of W ERZ REEE, 7
impairment loss) on loan OREEIEEE )T
receivables, net

Interest income FLEWA

Interest expenses B 9(a)

Write down of inventories WRTFE

Share of results of associates
Impairment loss/(reversal of
impairment loss) on

PNk UNCIE S|
N HNCIPA: 5
REER CREEBR

interests in associates, net (O] 4 ) 558
Gain arising from modification of ~ FEEWERMES 2 7
loan receivables Yz

Fair value (gain)/loss on trade
receivables designated at

BEREAHERBLSER
R 2 B 5 RUERR A

FVTPL FEME),EE

Fair value gain on trade payables  #87F A% A FENIERER
designated at FVTPL BRI 7 B S IETIRK

N ER R

Gain arising from changes in fair ~ T4 T AEAFE 7
value of derivative financial BEmMEEL
instruments — warrants Wiss — SRR

Foreign exchange loss, net bE H B R R

Dividend income from financial BRATFERERRERE
assets at FVTPL TREEFFREKA

Others Efth

2020 2019
i —TAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(429,402) 609,260
419 316
3,908 -
61,824 319,356
1,679 3,762
4,048 (602)
(73,973) (65,068)
240 2,020
5,833 3,147
(146,545) (273,750)
549,614 (643,439)
(5,934) -
(1,749) 652
(19,549) (4,706)
(11,414) -
13,681 11,410
(15,630) (9,132)
(18) =
(62,968) (46,774)



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2020
—EBCEF
Notes HK$’000
HiaF FET
Changes in working capital BEESEE
Increase in inventories FEEmM (66,311)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 M H M EULEE R (16,286)
other receivables (Em),/ m
Increase in trade and other B 5 R HAbERTARER 92,181
payables il
Increase in financial assets BEAFERERRERE (33,809)
at FVTPL held for trading ZHEEBEZ TR
BRI
Cash used in operations KEFARSE (87,193)
Income tax paid BETEH =
Net cash used in operating REEEARSFE (87,193)
activities
Investing activities REEE
Purchase of property, BEYE - BE MM (186)
plant and equipment
Purchase of listed equity BEWIHREELHEA (67,141)
securities not held within BH 2 EMRAES
the trading portfolios
Purchase of unlisted equity BEWIERNEEHLHEA (1,361)
securities not held within BA I ETRARES
the trading portfolios
Proceeds from disposal of listed ~ HEWIEFRBEEHANR 36,132
equity securities not held within BAEZ FTRAES
the trading portfolios FriS5/I8
Proceeds from disposal of HEIE FTHRAZE S =
unlisted equity securities FriS 508
Proceed from redemption of FE O AT BB TS 3RIE -
convertible notes
Proceed from redemption of ELEREEMSHIA 20 46,997
loan notes
New grant of loan receivables g E K 19(b) (347,981)
Repayments of loan receivables  E{EiEEKER 19(b) 278,527
Placement of pledged bank FE EIRRITER (351,175)
deposits
Withdrawal of pledged bank REE PRI TFR 335,747
deposits
Investments in associates B R AT (45,613)
Interest received RS 64,856
Divided received from investments 3 B #5384 2 B W% & 15,630
in securities
Net cash (used in)/generated  R&EEE(FTA) ELE (35,568)

from investing activities REFE

2019
—ET-NF
HK$'000
FH&T

(61,770)
1,396

1,296

(26,192)

(132,044)
(6597)

(132,641)

917)

(16,961)

85,950

3,732

100,000

(229,627)
229,602
(173,392)

128,153
(13,443)

55,465
9,132

177,694



For the year ended 30 June 2020

BMEEE

Financing activities
Capital element of lease

rentals paid
Interest element of lease EREERS T EBH5
rentals paid
Dividend paid EAIIRE
Other interest paid EAEMFE
Proceeds from rights issue HMEETIS 08
Transactions costs in relation A FRRE X SRR

to rights issue
Proceeds from new bank and FIGIRTT R EAMEE
other borrowings raised FriSsk18

Repayments of bank and BEERITREMEE
other borrowings
Net cash (used in)/generated  BESEEN(FTA) ELE
from financing activities REFE

Net (decrease)/increase in cash BE&RZEERE(FL),/
and cash equivalents EnFE

Cash and cash equivalents at RENZEERZERS

beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate [EREE) > 2/ & R5E
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year, represented
by bank balances and cash

RERBITEHRES

ENHEERENERE N

RERZHREREERSE

Notes

Hiat

22(b)

22(b)

22(b)

22(a)

The notes on pages 109 to 243 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

(E_T_TFERNA=THIEFE

2020
==
HK$°000
FHET
(3,905)

(240)

(121,890)

(126,035)

(248,796)

814,547

(1,712)

564,039

F109E 243 B W sE B AR

RE)—ERD ©

nu

2019
—NE&F
HK$’000
TAET

(27,459)
(2,083)
446,928
(8,344)

167,000

(210,500)

365,542

410,595

408,683

(4,731)

814,547



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

e MG ERME

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

APAC Resources Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
primary strategic investments, resource investment, commodity
business, and principal investment and financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional and presentation
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 4 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

1. —RER
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2020 comprise Group and the Group’s interests in
associates.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial

statements is the historical cost basis except that the following

assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in

the accounting policies set out below:

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
(note 2 (h))

— Trade receivables designated at FVTPL (note 2 (h))

— Trade payables designated at FVTPL (note 2 (i)

E-B-RFAASTALFE

2. TESHEE @)

BE_Z-_ZFEA=1THILFE
IR AYERRBEREE M AE
B R B LA R AIREDS o

FAARKESERMHHREANIAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

e |evel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs,
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 3.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2(k)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the investment, and any direct investment into the associate
that forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for
the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate (after applying the ECL model to such other long-term
interests where applicable (see note 2())).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

Goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of
the consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of
net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates acquired
over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Disposal of partial interests in associates

For disposal of partial interests in an associate that does not
result in the Group losing significant influence over the associate,
the difference between the carrying amount of the associate
attributable to the interests disposed of and the consideration
is taken into account in the determination of the gain or loss on
the disposal of partial interests. In addition, the Group accounts
for amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if the associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income (i.e. exchange reserve and investment revaluation
reserve) relating to that reduction in ownership interest is
reclassified to profit or loss as if the associate has disposed of
the related assets or liabilities proportionately.

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

2. TESHEE @)

W R & 1 ]2 B ME

ME MR EBRD(RPIRERE R
AIFEIME R B F B ERRE(E 2 &P
5 BAESRUERER - HMoh
P s & A RIS IMER R0 FE
ERAEHIBBENRE - 8l
iRE S BRI ME R BRI 7R R
=R o

HEBENRZ B0 B

fidf & —RIBE 2 R A) 2 BB D s I
TEYAREEHBLERNRIREEKX
T8N AIRBELEN R L
Wer sk B R T AT E R EL
BanrREEEREZER - It
S AEER AN E M2 W as
FERR B 'S N BB A < & RRIRRX
BEnrERHERBEEELRE
BN TRERAZBREEAL -
At - SE AT E At 2 Weas (BN EE
AR RRE R ) ERIL R
BEEEDRD BB 2BEND K
SENORERS - BIBEAR
ERLPIHERBEEESAE -



For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2())):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 2(f)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:
Leasehold improvements, Over the lease terms
furniture and fixtures

Office equipment 5 years
Computers 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for
as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss
on the date of retirement or disposal.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both
the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee
Policy applicable from 1 July 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

As a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 July 2019 (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(e) and 2())).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

As a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 July 2019 (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in property, plant and
equipment and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group classified
leases as finance leases if the leases transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group. Leases
which did not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified as operating leases, with
the following exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property was classified
as investment property on a property-by-property basis
and, if classified as investment property, was accounted for
as if held under a finance lease; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair
value of which could not be measured separately from the
fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, was accounted for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building was also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of the
lease was the time that the lease was first entered into by
the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

As a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019 (Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets were recognised as property, plant
and equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, were recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation was provided at rates which wrote off the cost of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it was
likely the Group would obtain ownership of the asset, the life
of the asset, as set out in note 2(e). Impairment losses were
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 2()). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments
were charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so
as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases were charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received were recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were incurred.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
pledged bank deposits, receivable from security brokers, other
receivables, deposits, loan receivables, loan notes and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

For the financial assets at amortised costs, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credlit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

BE—

“EFEANAZTHLESE

2. TESHEE @)

ﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁ@)

()

1= ERGHZE LT

AHEE SRR B FIRHERIANR
ERERE LR - AEESL
REmMITANREARELE
#IHE B S Bl T AR FRBE
REHELERONAR - FHE
B AREEEEAENMAIX
ﬁmﬁgﬁiﬁﬁﬂ'ﬁﬁt
ERBRLRBANDBEKRAR
%ﬁ%ﬂZM%Eéﬂ

FHEEERBRRES
REZRIATER :

TR TAINB(NE)HA
BEEFENERKTASR

l:l/\l?l

ﬁaﬁ/ﬁ\%/u\{t ’

o EERBRHNINETISER
BmEBL > PIEBAD
EEEE  ERENES
BIRFE LTt

o HE - SRIKEFNE
RIS TEEAE T FIES) - 78
S EHEBAEBEEE
HIBE DRRE TN B&

s BEBAREXERERKTE
HigERL

e BEHBAMEE  LEXF
MRE B ERKTEFTHE
AIFIEE) - BHEBA
EEBEBEMREIEZET
F% o



For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) ()
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flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to =5IMEES  AIEFTIAN
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit FERBEBTEAE - HEETL

rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; or

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (jii)
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) RAFERBEZREEZ
cRBEm
A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading EREUTGRE e E(FHE
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business BENWE I REKE R AR
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recognition if: REEERZRATERBERE
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including other payables and lease liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

— interests in associates;
—  prepayments; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and
independent of each other.

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which
the reversal occurs.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (‘ECLs”) in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(h).
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

e inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

e in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of continuing with the contract.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods or the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, underlying the particular
performance obligation at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discounts.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of commodities
(i.e. iron ore) in the period that the performance obligations
are satisfied which refers to delivery of the goods to the
destination specified by the customers. The destination
may be the destination port or the customer’s premises.
The quantity of commodities as specified in each sales
contract is separately identifiable and represents a distinct
performance obligation to which the transaction price is
allocated. Performance obligations are satisfied at a point in
time once control of the commodities have been transferred
to the customers. The customers have obtained control on
the commodities through their ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all the benefits from the commodities.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Sale of goods (Continued)

Provisional pricing arrangements in relation to trading of
commodities

For trading of commodities, the sales price is determined
on a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final sales
price is subject to (a) final assay for the quality and quantity
of commodities after discharge and (b) movements in
prevailing spot prices up to the date of final pricing, normally
within the month at which the commodities are delivered to
customers (i.e. quotation period). Revenue on provisionally
priced sales is recognised based on the estimated quality
and quantity of commodities and fair value of the total
consideration receivable.

The Group estimates the amount of the variable
consideration of trading of commodities to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount as it better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled. The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.

Adjustment to the sales price occurs based on movements
in prevailing spot prices up to the completion of quotation
period and, thus, the revenue adjustment mechanism has
the characteristic of a commodity derivative. Accordingly,
the fair value of the total consideration receivable subject to
the final sales price adjustment is re-estimated continuously
by reference to prevailing spot prices and the changes in
fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Such fair value
adjustments do not form part of the revenue recognised
from contracts with customers but included in “other
gains and losses” line item in these consolidated financial
statements. These trade receivables are governed under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and are recognised at fair
value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 2(h)).

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have
been established. Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBEK @)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value is measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EE&5HBUR @)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non- controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

vii) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive
directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Estimated impairment loss of the Group’s
interest in MGX (as defined in note 16)

Determining whether impairment loss should be recognised
in relation to interest in MGX requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in MGX which is the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the management of the
Group to estimate the present value of the future cash flows
expected to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated
based on the cash flows from the operations of MGX and
the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of MGX taking into
account the estimated future prices and production volume
of hematite iron ores of MGX, a suitable discount rate and
historical dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less
costs of disposal of MGX has been determined based on
the closing price of shares of MGX listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (“ASX”). Where the actual cash flows
are less or more than expected or upon the management’s
revision of estimated cash flows for the purpose of
determining the value in use due to changes in conditions,
facts and circumstances, the recoverable amount may
change and a material reversal or further recognition of
impairment loss may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or
further recognised takes place.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(ii) Impairment allowances on loan receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgement,
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies.
Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting
judgements and estimates include:

e The Group’s internal credit grading model, which
assigns probabilities of default to the individual grades;

e The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

e The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers when their ECL is
assessed on a collective basis;

e Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination
of the period over which the entity is exposed to credit
risk based on the behavioral life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exXposures;

e Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and

e Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. = EE5HE R & @)
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(i) SMIT A A PEHE

(iii) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 30 June 2020, certain of the Group's financial
assets, including unlisted equity investments, investments
in convertible notes and trade receivables designated
at FVTPL amounting to HK$24,254,000 (2019:
HK$32,242,000), and certain of the Group’s financial
liabilities, including trade payables designated at FVTPL
amounting to HK$61,852,000 (2019: HK$5,415,000) are
measured at fair value with fair value being determined
based on unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value of these
instruments. See note 32(h) for further disclosures.

(iv) Current tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income tax. There are many transactions for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current tax and
deferred tax provisions in the financial period in which such
determination is made.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. = ES:# &5t
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(v) Write-down of inventories to net realisable

value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the required write-down amount involves
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, such difference will have an impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the write-down charge/write-
back amount in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

(vi) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(f), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease term
at the commencement date for leases that include renewal
options exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates
the likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements
undertaken and the importance of that underlying asset
to the Group’s operation. The lease term is reassessed
when there is a significant event or significant change
in circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any
increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised
in future years.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by HKICPA for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except for HKFRS 16 “Leases”, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior year have been prepared or presented in these
consolidated financial statements. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
year.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4 “Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease”, HK(SIC) 15 “Operating leases — incentives” and
HK(SIC) 27 “Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the
legal form of a lease”. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-
value assets. The lessor accounting requirements brought forward
from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 4. ERHIIR KB EBE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 July 2019. The
Group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 July 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

(a) New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset for a
period of time, which may be determined by a defined amount
of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has both
the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 July 2019. For contracts entered into before 1 July
2019, the Group has used the transitional practical expedient
to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue
to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service arrangements continue
to be accounted for as executory contracts.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is required
to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee, including leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
which are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned, these
newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to property,
plant and equipment as disclosed in note 15. For an explanation
of how the Group applies lessee accounting, see note 2(f).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 July 2019), the
Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms and
measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified
as operating leases at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing
rates at 1 July 2019.

The weighted average of the incremental borrowing rates used
for determination of the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 5.1%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS
16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets to leases for which the remaining lease term
ends within 12 months from the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 30
June 2020;
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 4. ERHIIR KB EBE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING R4 Bl ()
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) FAASHEESFEZRBE

(Continued) SEm)

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial iy RETEBEXEREEMERE
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single HAF16REANEHERRE
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar i AEERAFSERME
characteristics (such as leases with a similar remaining BOHEESEAE R X
lease term for a similar class of underlying asset in a similar (BlanE RO EIR R T3t
economic environment); and S FEH AR & = B G R UE

SHREEHNEE) &

(i) when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of initial (i) RErEEREREENBRE
application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied on the previous EHE16REBNEAEE
assessment for onerous contract provisions as at 30 June ER - NEBKBZAN_-Z
2019 as an alternative to performing an impairment review. —hWERNA=THHEEES

RBMBIEL ORI - ABRE
TTREZER] -

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments TRERR-_ZE-NFRA=THEN
as disclosed in note 27 as at 30 June 2019 to the opening ISR E AR (R EEROMIFE27) R
balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019: —E-NFLA-BEIANEER
BE AR AR
HK$’000
FHT
Operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 RZE-—NFARA=THZKEEMN 5,114
EEE
Less: Short-term leases and other leases with B EEAE R FSEEERN 32)
remaining lease term ending on or before ZEZTFRA=1HK
30 June 2020 ZAIEROEMBE
Total future interest expenses RRFEFRZ A (219)
Present value of remaining lease payments, LAY B8 18 7051 = 8538 Ay Rl e A8 4,863

discounted using the incremental borrowing rate ENFRERNRZZE—NF
and total lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019 + A —B#RNHBER FEHE%E

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified BRI DA EHENTHERH
as operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal HEAEEECRERRFESREE
to the amount recognised for the remaining lease liabilities, BENDHERFETHER - Wi
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease BR=ZZF—NFESA=THEKE
payments relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated BN R P R HEREN
statement of financial position at 30 June 2019. ERIFER S ERT H EN R RRHETT

-



For the year ended 30 June 2020

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
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position:

27488 .
=

Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying
amount at of operating amount at
30 June 2019 lease contracts 1 July 2019
R=-ZF-h& R=-ZF-h&
AA=TH KEHE +tH—H
MEREE BHRERL MEREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
Line items in the consolidated SRHNBEBH KRS
statement of financial position ZR|F1655 &N
impacted by the adoption of SREMBRARS
HKFRS 16: B5EE :
Property, plant and equipment ¥ - BENEE 1,368 4,863 6,231
Total non-current assets kRBEELAE 2,264,877 4,863 2,269,740
Total assets BEEME 4,027,529 4,863 4,032,392
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEaBEGERE) = (1,848) (1,848)
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEE - (1,848) (1,848)
Lease liabilities (current) HEABORE) > (3,015) (3,015)
Total current liabilities BB EAE (13,042) (3,015) (16,057)
Total liabilities aEaE (13,042) (4,863) (17,905)
Total equity and liabilities ExkEEAH (4,027,529) (4,863) (4,032,392)
Net current assets REBEERE 1,749,610 (3,015) 1,746,595
Total assets less total liabilities EELAEREBAE 4,014,487 - 4,014,487



For the year ended 30 June 2020

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(c) Impact on the financial result, segment results
and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 July 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance
of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. This results in a positive impact on the reported profit
from operations in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit
or loss, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied
during the year.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element (see Notes
22(b) and 24). These elements are classified as financing
cash outflows, similar to how leases previously classified as
finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating leases
under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows are unaffected, the
adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a significant change in
presentation of cash flows within the consolidated statement of
cash flow.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s executive directors (the chief operating decision maker) for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three reportable segments.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

M

(i)

(i)

Commodity business (trading of commaodities);

Resource investment (trading of and investment in listed and
unlisted securities of energy and natural resources companies);
and

Principal investment and financial services (provision of loan
financing and investments in loan notes, convertible notes and
other financial assets and receiving interest income from these
financial assets).

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s executive
directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is earnings
and loss of each segment without allocation of share of results of
associates, net impairment loss on interests in associates, l0ss
arising from deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate,
net loss arising from changes in fair value of certain financial
assets at FVTPL (i.e. unlisted equity investments, listed equity
securities not held within the trading portfolios and convertible
notes), other corporate income and gain, central administrative
expenses and other corporate losses, and central finance costs.
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. DHRPER

AEBIZDREREER - Mo RMZE
B (EmAE R RE - AEBARRR
ARNKEHNITES(EBRERRE)Z
HER AEBERD BC R FE) — 2
ZHR  2FAT=ERREDE - #
EAHEEDBUERAT A RED

B o

0 PaEHERES)

i)y BRHEE(GERERAERARL
MEFLETEHREENRE) K

(i) EB®RE KT BRS (FRHEER
BURREERRR - A RERE
LEMEMEENBZTEREE
YZER A S o

BHEDRAREE D ZED
BEER  AKEOATEFEAT
R REE R RE D BAELE -
BERAE:

WA Ko B S ToiR IR 0 BB AT EE A 2 34
ERD R th 2 P 3 BRRE A
BERTEIBHAIEE RS

DEERIREDED

FHEmEDEEN(ER)REM
ADBEDIEMERRIEE  BERQ
AEDREBREE  RIEHER
—fREE R A BM R MELE 2B
B BAHERNERREEZET
TR EE (A EMIRARE - I
FREEBMAEARHZ EMERAE
FEABRERE) A FEESME
2 BRI - AMERBARK
& - PRITHAX REMEEER
Ko o R B HE AR AN 9 & flE] 20 BR Y Ui 2
K JE1R -



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-_Z-ZFA=1THIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. DEER @)

Segment assets include all assets of operating and reportable
segments other than interests in associates, certain property,
plant and equipment, certain loan notes and certain financial
assets at FVTPL (i.e. convertible notes) not managed under
principal investment and financial services segment, certain
financial assets at FVTPL (i.e. unlisted equity investments and
listed equity securities not held within the trading portfolios) not
managed under resource investment segment, certain other
receivables and certain bank balances and cash.

Segment liabilities include provisions and trade and other
payables and lease liabilities attributable to the activities of the
individual segments and borrowings managed directly by the
segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning segment
(loss)/profit, the Board is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest income (included in other income),
depreciation, dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL,
gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair value of financial assets
mandatorily measured at FVTPL, net, (impairment loss)/reversal
of impairment loss on loan receivables, net, (loss)/gain arising
from changes in fair value of provisional pricing arrangements
in relation to trading of commodities, net, finance costs, net
foreign exchange loss, income tax and additions to non-current
segment assets (other than financial instruments and deferred
tax assets) used by the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL A MEHRARNTE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_Z-_ZFNA=Z+HILFE
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. EER @)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) DX E - BEREB®@®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the LT3R S E2EEE s 2 E
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding BAXMWHRSF  ERBE-E=
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s EER T HEANA—+ALE
executive directors for the purposes of resource allocation and Fgm$; B 77 E/ = }ﬁﬁ?E' i (L
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 30 s i-\/{j—/‘\ﬁ o Py
June 2020 and 2019 is set out below. BIR 5B KT s 2 #BRIR ) AR

B AR 5 EE 2 B o
Year ended 30 June 2020
BE-Z-ZEXAZTHLEE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business  investment services Total
TERER
B mER ERkE SRR it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER

Segment revenue: DI
Disaggregated by timing of revenue RS HERERE D
recognition
- Point in time —RE—BEY 367,690 - - 367,690
- Revenue from other sources: —E MR WS - - 68,837 68,837
Interest income FlEMA
Revenue from external customers REINDE P 2 Uias 367,690 - 68,837 436,527
Gross sales proceeds from resource HEBRREMGHELSR - 977,887 - 977,887
investment
Segment results DHEE (5,912) 63,356 57,851 115,295
Share of results of associates SRS N R EE 146,545
Impairment loss on interests in REE DR R RfE (549,614)
associates, net BEFE
Loss arising from deemed disposal of RIEDER—REE A7 (1,679)
partial interest in an associate HhgamEL s BiE
Loss arising from changes in fair BATFERNBRREE Y (104,141)
value of certain financial assets at ETemEELTEES
FVTPL, net MEAZBETE
Other corporate income and gains Ht pEWA Rz 7,538
Central administrative expenses and FRITBES KM% (43,161)
other corporate losses 718
Central finance costs R BT R AR (185)
Consolidated loss before taxation LERHAER (429,402)
Segment assets PHEE 403,136 824,292 505,796 1,733,224
Interests in associates i AN 3 1,525,576
Unallocated head office and AOMBHREERE
corporate assets
- Certain financial assets at FVTPL ~BATERERREE Y 76,379
ATEREE
~Bank balances and cash —RTEBEES 185,665
- Other unallocated corporate assets —HtARDENEEE 5,787
Consolidated total assets HAEE®E 3,526,631
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL e SRR EE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HEZZT-_TFA=THIEFE
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) PE¥EE - BEEREE @
Year ended 30 June 2020
HZE-Z-ZEXAZTALEE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business  investment services Total
IERER
mmER BRRE SRR® &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Tign FET T Tign

Segment liabilities ABaE 72,579 9,410 1,023 83,012
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOMEEEE 7,811
Consolidated total liabilties FEAREE 90,823
Other segment information HipHEH
Interest income (included in other income) 18I A (5 AELALUA) 1,457 7 - 1,464
Unallocated Kol 3,672
5,136
Dividend income from financial assets BATERNERREEZ - 15,630 - 15,630
at FVTPL SREEREBA
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair &R A L ENMBRE - 53,731 - 53,731
value of financial assets mandatorily REZSREEATE
measured at FVTPL, net SEMEL
Wit/ (B8) 38
Unallocated Al (104,141)
(50,410)
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net U E R 7 FiE R SHE - - (4,048) (4,048)
Gain arising from changes in fair value el Bﬁﬁ&%%%}ﬁ%i{% 21,298 - - 21,298
of provisional pricing arrangements in ZHENTEEDmMEE L
relation to trading of commodities, net a5
Net foreign exchange loss SNEBEEE (5,241) (1,271) (12,175) (18,687)
Unallocated RO (9,110)
(27,797)
Additions to non-current assets FRBEERE = - - -
Unallocated Al 2,794
2,794
Depreciation wE (1,074) = = (1,074)
Unallocated RO (3,253)
(4,327)
Finance costs AR A (55) = = (55)
Unallocated Al (185)
(240)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FER(AX) /K (1) = 2 1
Unallocated Aol -
1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL A VB EmERMEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_Z-_ZTF X A=1THILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) PH¥EE - BEEREE

Year ended 30 June 2019

BEZT-NEFAA=THILEE

Principal

investment

Commodity Resource  and financial

business investment services

IERER

HmE% BRIRE SRR

(%)

Total

At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEL TET FET TEL
Segment revenue: DEUE
Disaggregated by timing of revenue RS D
recognition
- Point in time - AE-FmEZ 51,099 - - 51,099
- Revenue from other sources: —Hi Rz s - - 58,128 58,128
Interest income FIBMA
Revenue from external customers RENBEE 2 Wz 51,099 = 58,128 109,227
Gross sales proceeds from resource HEBREEMGHRAS = 343,030 = 343,030
investment
Segment results DEEE (3,808) (86,646) 47,371 (43,083)
Share of results of associates DB EDREE 273,750
Reversal of impairment loss on interests in - BRI LA T 7 #57 643,439
associates, net WEBETE
Loss arising from deemed disposal of RIEHER L AT (3,762)
partial interest in an associate HAREmEECBE
Loss arising from changes In fair value of A TERBREREY (229,936)
certain financial assets at FVTPL, net ETEREELTEEY
MEE 2 BEFE
Other corporate income and gains Hip WA Rz 4,063
Central administrative expenses and RRITBAS R E % (33,191)
other corporate losses BB
Central finance costs R RETFE R (2,020)
Consolidated profit before taxation EABRTAER 609,260
Segment assets PHEE 541,765 477,278 422,619 1,441,662
Interests in associates REE N e 1,904,461
Unallocated head office and ANHEBRAERE
corporate assets
~ Certain financial assets at FVTPL - RATFENESEREE 307,880
ATEREE
- Loan notes -EXER 31,360
- Bank balances and cash - RITEHREAS 339,505
- Other unallocated corporate assets —EfRDECEEE 2,661
Consolidated total assets REEERE 4,027,529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2020

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

e MR ECGE)

(E T _TFERA=THIEFE

5. 2EER @)

(a) 2 EpXEE - EERAB @)

Year ended 30 June 2019
BE-T-NEAA=TALEE
Principal
Commodity Resource  investment and
business investment  financial services Total
FERER .
ik BRRE Eal 0 A%
HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000
THL THL THAL THL
Segment liabilities IRER 6,675 609 231 7,515
Unallocated corporate liabilities *%HE@%ET 5,527
Consolidated total liabilities FAEEAE 13,042
Other segment information HtbAHEH
Interest income (included in other income) FIEBA GEAZMA) 2,986 9 1 2,996
Unallocated APE 3,944
6,940
Dividend income from financial assets BRATERERRRE - 9,132 - 9,132
at FVTPL TREERERA
(Loss)/gain arising from changes in fair BHMERATERERRREL - (89,953 533 (89,420)
value of financial assets mandatorily SHEENTEEYMELL
measured at FVTPL, net (B8)/ Wasa
Unallocated KAl (229,936)
(319,356)
Reversal of impairment loss on EEERET REFEFE - - 602 602
loan receivables, net
Gain arising from changes in fair value of BEHRmESBETERY 4,054 = = 4,054
provisional pricing arrangements in ATEEYmMEL MR
relation to trading of commodities, net
Net foreign exchange loss SNEBEFE (6,422) (4,365) (11,561) (21,348)
Unallocated v (1,440)
(02,789)
Additions to non-current assets FNYEENE > - - .
Unallocated APE 917
917
Depreciation & = = = =
Unallocated AR (316)
(316)
Finance costs BERA - = = =
Unallocated v 2,020)
(2,020)
Income tax expense FERET 5 - - g
Unallocated v (828)
(828)
There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended 30 HE_ZT-_ZTFR-ZT—NFA
June 2020 and 2019. =+ HIEFEWES B o
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE-_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @)

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the
Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and interests in associates. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location
of goods delivered; the Group’s interest income derived from
loan receivables in respect of principal investment and financial
services is analysed by the location where the loan financing is
provided; and the Group’s interest income derived from loan
notes in respect of principal investment and financial services is
analysed by the location where these investments are managed
by the Group. In the case of non-current assets (excluding
financial assets and deferred tax assets) which is presented
based on geographical location of assets (where the property,
plant and equipment are located and where the associates are

TY%O$EIXE%%§?ZW
=mRAEEDE  BEREER
REEE R E) 2 iR IB L BN D
e BREMMIBA B HENE ME
REFTEH  AEEREEERE
5 & m AR5 A8 B I I E B2 B BUL
ATRR B ERBE T DT
MAEEREEERE RS BRS
HEERERE 2 F B TR R E
BERZEREMTH DT - IER
FEE(IMRIEeREELELER
HEE) AR TIREEEREH
(W% 5 55 K2 5% 1 P 7 b R gt &
ARGEMAL ETH ) 25 °

incorporated/listed).

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REIINBEF 2 W FRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECERF —_TNF ZBZBF —ThF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FET FAT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (5FftFTEHD) 16,023 11,916 4,339 1,338
The PRC S 385,726 70,378 40,772 39,719
Australia SEM 2,850 2,016 1,486,118 1,864,772

Southeast Asia region R ani & 31,928 24,917 - -

436,527 109,227 1,531,229 1,905,829



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the

e P EmRE(E)

BE_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

5. 2EER @)

(c) EBEFEFZEH
RAEEREERI0%HIALZ T

Group’s revenue are as follows: BT
2020 2019
gt 222 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Commodity business [EERES
Customer A ZEHR 194,469 50,839
Customer B TR 70,104 =
Customer C ZEA 54,620 =
Principal investment and FERE KRR
financial services
Customer D BET N/A* 24,917
TiE
Customer E B N/A* 14,967
TiE A

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the
Group’s total revenue during the corresponding year.

* HBEREYESARENEEFE
AR ERI10%A L -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

6. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

Revenue from contracts EBBYIERE%ER
with customers within FISRBEACER
the scope of HKFRS 15 X olE:

Trading of goods o E
— Commodities (Iron ore) — B (EEL)
Revenue from other sources E b R A e
Interest income under effective BRI AT E D
interest method FLEMA
— Loan receivables —EUE K
- Loan notes EREE
- Convertible notes —TT@:HXﬁTJ?«
Total revenue Wz 4 s

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are
disclosed in Notes 5(a) and 5(b) respectively.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts for the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not disclosed.

6.

(E_T_TFERNA=THIEFE

g

BEBRERIRBERNE D ZFF
BHWEDIFIT

2020 2019

= L Is —T—nE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
367,690 51,099
68,385 56,011
452 911

- 1,206

68,837 58,128
436,527 109,227

B AR R IR R I T 585
ZRABEFEHZWAD BIRKFE
5(a) K 5(b) & -

R BV 2 P A AT
TTEHA B 44 iR 2 o

BBV BREENFE1FHBEA
BEFHEANZBRE R —FX
AT - B BEH B IRELERE 5
SRR - MER D ARERBHEE
NEEZFEN IR ZE BRI AR

f'EtEO



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Htl s R &8

2020
—EEF

HK$’000
TR

Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair MR A EREREE

value of financial assets mandatorily Rz EEATE
measured at FVTPL, net: SEmELZ Re,”
(&18) %8
— listed equity securities held-for-trading ~ — ¥ {EE & 2 FHRA 42,317
BH
— listed equity securities not held —WIHIEEBHE 2 (87,419)
within the trading portfolios IR ES
— convertible notes — A R R (2,283)
— unlisted equity investments —JE LML E (14,439)
— derivative financial instruments —PTESBTA 11,414
— warrants — RAx
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment  EWE =% CREEE) (4,048)
loss on loan receivables, net Bl 7 (B 5 15 54 58
Loss arising from deemed disposal of BRIELERN —EEE R A (1,679)
partial interest in an associate ERnhE e M 2= A 2 518
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair B RE SRR EE
value of provisional pricing arrangements  ZBEA P ES BN T E L
in relation to trading of commodities: 2 Wz (E548) -
— fair value gain/ (loss) on trade —EERAFERERE 1,749
receivables designated at FVTPL R 2 8 SRR
ZAFERE(BER)
— fair value gain on trade payables —EEEATENEZE 19,549
designated at FVTPL RRIEZE S ENER
Z N ERE
Gain arising from modification of R W R B A 2 W 5,934
loan receivables
Net foreign exchange loss SNEEIEFEE (27,797)
Others HAth 18

(56,684)

2019

—F-NF

HK$’000
TET

(89,953)

(214,912)

(999)
(13,492)

602

(3,762)

(652)

4,706

(22,788)

(341,250)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AR (E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-ZT-_TFA=THIEFE
8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hi A
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#BT FET
Interest income on financial assets BEHER AT EC CREE
measured at amortised cost: ZFBUA -
— bank deposits —RITER 3,478 4,308
— loan notes —EREE 558 1,490
4,036 5,798
Interest income from convertible notes AIHRRS ZE IR 2 FI B U A 1,100 1,142
Interest income B WA 5,136 6,940
Dividend income from financial BATERIBSERIE Y
assets at FVTPL: TRBEZREWA -
— listed equity securities —BIEEE 2 LR 15,630 9,132
held-for-trading 753
Others Hib 4,969 731
25,735 16,803
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the
following:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Finance costs:

Interest on lease liabilities
(Note 22(b))

Interest on other borrowings
(Note 22(b))

Interest on a bank borrowing
(Note 22(b))

Total interest expense on financial
liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss

Staff costs
(including directors’ emoluments):
Salaries and allowance
Director’s quarter recognised as
lease expense (note (i)
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Other items:
Cost of goods recognised as an
expenses (note (i)
Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
Depreciation charges (Note 15)
— owned property,
plant and equipment
— right-of-use assets (note (i)

Total minimum lease payments for
lease previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17
(notes (i) and (iii)

Short-term lease expense

(a)

(b)

(c)

BERA
HEaRERE
(H1at22))
HMEEFR S
(H1at22())
BITEEFR &
(H1at22))

W IFE A FHER B
REEZEREHEZ
) SRS 4R

BIRA
(BREEEMS) :
e KRR
HERAEER K
E=EE (W)
FUEHFURRE S

HR

Hipg g

HERA/FL 2 R
(K1a20)

ZEREN B &

— 2B R

— X BRR TS

WEXH(HZ15)

—BEYHE  BER
B

— (e FREE E (Hat (i)

ERIRIEE S SRR
FATHRDEAKE
HEAExEAE
IEREBER (B2 () K (i)

EHAH SR

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

9. BRBLAT(BER), A

FREERT(B1R), (s AR GEA)T

B :
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT
240 -
- 1,174
- 846
240 2,020
19,781 18,953
- 1,080
317 312
20,098 20,345
384,605 51,818
750 940
307 661
419 316
3,908 -
- 3,422
89 -



For the year ended 30 June 2020

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

The amount for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes write down of
inventories of HK$5,833,000 (2019: HK$3,147,000).

Staff costs included HKS$nil (2019: HK$1,080,000), being lease payments
for leasing a property as director’s quarter for Mr. Andrew Ferguson, an
executive director of the Company. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
with the application of HKFRS 16, the lease of the director’s quarter was
recognised as right-of-use asset and lease liability upon the initial application
of HKFRS 16 on 1 July 2019. For the year ended 30 June 2019, the amount
was included in the total amount of operating lease charges as disclosed
above.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-
use assets at 1 July 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information is
not restated, see Note 4.

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Current tax BN EATR IR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ~ —FERE B ST
(note (i) (Hi70))
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) —FRPBEEMEH
for the year (note (i) ([{ZEmBH)
(Brzta)
— Under-provision of EIT for the —BEFEEFMSE
prior year BB E
Deferred tax FERERIA
— Origination and reversal of —EREREIEENR

temporary differences (Note 25(a)) 15 (f1i225(a)

RS (%), Fix

Income tax (credit)/expense

HE—

“EFEANAZTHIESFE

9. BFiAT(ER), THBA @)

wiiz -

0)

(i)

(i)

10. Ff#

HE-_Z-_ZFA=-tHELFEZS
B IEFEMR5,833,0008T(=ZE— 1
4 3,147,000/ 7T) °

EIRAREZETL(ZTE—HL&F
1,080,000 7T) » BNAARR T%ﬂﬁ%%
Andrew Fergusont £ EMEERES
BENHEEMNR REE-_ZT-ZTFXA
=t+BILFE  ARERBESHFHRELE
AlZE165% EEHEEMAEER = —A
FtA— BT EABRSYERELERE
16 EERAERAEEERTAEEE -
REBEZZ—NEFAA=THILFE %
SEIALNTEENGERERYT 2
% -

AEECRBEEENEEREREER
MRS ERE16S - AHBER TN
FHHA—AHFOESRS - ARERETHR
BEEEE uf’EE'J%Wﬁ"*EF%Z‘“%%ﬁ“’”
MEERANERREE - R-T—hF
tA-BMREREBEEER  A%H
(TERAMAN) AR ERREENTE
M3EBE A B REEEERERAEEHE
EEAMNBEERR - RILTE - LRER
TFEF - R4

SB(ER), BIX

2020 2019
—z-%5 —T—nE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHExT

644 231

- 597

1 -

(646) -

(1) 828



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

e SRR (8 )
HE_Z-ZFA=Z+THIFE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FAEHi(ER), B X @)

(a) REERBRZEHE @)
Notes: Hiat -

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss: (Continued)

0

(i)

(i)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 and 2019 were
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime (the “Two-tiered
Profits Tax Rate Regime”). The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day.

Under the Two-tiered Profits Tax Rate Regime, the first HK$2 million of
the assessable profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%
and the assessable profits above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the Two-tiered Profits Tax Rate
Regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Group’s subsidiaries established in China is subject to the PRC EIT
at 25% (2019: 25%).

The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands for the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2019.

(i)

(i)

—ECTER T NENEBF
B RFE ARG R FE AR
F16.5% =T IEEE ©

R-ZB—N\F=A=+—R0 &
EERB( T FERBUER])
(BTSR)GOIER)(TERBIER])
H | ARS B AR 6 ([ RSB mAR
)  ZEPIERR _F—N\F=
At N\BEREXRSEEZERNE
BEBRTE -

REFMESHEMAS  GEEEEE
BOEE2HEB TR FEIA
8.25% M REAF - BB A &
TT 2 FE SR B FI B LA 16.5% HY T R 485
o TRHAFSHMATERNE
B E AR FI B TR 16.5% MM — T
RIHF o

AN B A B Sz OB B A BB IR
25% B RN B EFTEH (=
T—NEF : 25%) °

AEBRBE T -_TZER_-F
—NWEXNA=TRH L EEBAYN
BRENEBELESAEZERED
EAIFLIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL A TS EmRMEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_Z-_ZFNA=Z+HILFE
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FTEH(ER) BX @

(b) Reconciliation between tax (credit)/expense (b) BiE(ESR) BXEGE
and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax (E518), BN zBRERAH
rate: RZHER

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREE AT (E1E) S F) (429,402) 609,260
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before #£16.5% K BB FIFH (70,851) 100,528
taxation, calculated at Hong Kong R E 2 BREA]
Profits tax rate of 16.5% (E18), & Hz
ZEBIE
Effect of different tax rates arising from  E b Fi 7% al A &R FTE £ (124) -
other tax jurisdictions TRME 2 2
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses SR04 5 s 2 Fi i g2 & 107,840 60,513
Tax effect of non-taxable income ﬁc;ﬁ A BT R 2 (17,438) (117,829)
Tax effect of share of results of DB ERRIFEE L (24,180) (45,169)
associates MG &
Statutory tax concession EEBIERZ (165) (165)
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible WiErERZ HIERE, 4,855 3,058
temporary differences not recoginsed A IR ET RS ZE R
Bgse
Utilisation of tax losses previously not  EhF4EFIRIER 2 - (140)
recognised HIAEE
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETE 1 =
Others Hitb 61 28
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year ERFTERI(3K%), B (1) 828
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 1. EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the BRI FBCR BHER ) E383(1) IE ML A
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies F(BEESFRER)ROIYE2ZH
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are BEEMET -
as follows:
Year ended 30 June 2020 BE-Z-_ZFXA=THLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes
Fee benefits bonus contributions Total
e 28 BAKER
He  RHEMER BERA HE 25 by

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Andrew Ferguson Andrew FergusonZt £ - 4,769 - 18 4,787
(note (3)) (Hi#e)
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith%: 4 - 1,380 - 126 1,506
Non-executive directors: FRTES:
Mr. Lee Seng Hui FRBEA 121 - - - 127
Ms. Lam Lin Chu (note (b)) WER LT (Wit) 14 = = = 14
Mr. So Kwok Hoo (note (c)) BEREEWEL) 113 = o - 113
Mr. Arthur George Dew Arthur George Dew#: £ - 301 401 - 702
(note (d) (Hi#0)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, TAERE - 146 156 7 309
alternate director of (Arthur George Dew’t &
Mr. Arthur George Dew (note () ZEIER) (M)
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert TikgEL 201 - - - 201
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis EEmg s 201 - - - 201
Mr. Wang Honggian (note (6)) IEREEHRE) 201 - - - 201
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks Robert Moyse Willcocks % 4 80 - - - 80
(note (f) (Hren)

937 6,596 557 151 8,241



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

— =

BE-_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

==
=)

ire MR T (8
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 1. EEME @)
Year ended 30 June 2019 HE_Z-NFRA=THILFE
Salaries, Retirement
alowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fee benefits bonus  contributions Total
R4 EINAEA
e REMEN BT HE 25 b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Andrew Ferguson Andrew FergusonZt & = 4,586 602 18 5,206
(note (a)) (H1i2)
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith/e & - 1,348 1,500 122 2,970
Non-executive directors: FTES:
Mr. Lee Seng Hui ERBEE 121 - - - 121
Mr. So Kwok Hoo (note (¢)) HEREEMRL) 121 £ . - 121
Mr. Arthur George Dew Arthur George Dew: - 292 387 - 679
(note (d) (W)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, TAHEE - 142 126 7 275
alternate director of (Arthur George Dew 54
Mr. Arthur George Dew (note () ZEIES) (M)
Independent non-executive directors: BUNTES
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Tkl 191 - - - 191
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis HERLE 191 - = = 191
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks Robert Moyse Willcocks % 4 191 = = = 191
(note (f) (Hrn)
Mr. Wang Honggian (note (g)) TEAEE W) 21 . = = 21
836 6,368 2,615 147 9,966



For the year ended 30 June 2020

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Andrew Ferguson is also the chief executive officer of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as
a chief executive officer.

Included in salaries, allowances and other benefit, there is payment of
HK$1,279,000 (2019: HK$1,080,000) being the payment made by the Group
for Mr. Andrew Ferguson’s use as the director’s quarter which the Group
is the lessee for the year ended 30 June 2020 and 2019. Of the payment
of HK$1,279,000 (2019: HK$1,080,000), HK$nil (2019: HK$1,080,000)
is charged to profit or loss as lease expenses, and HK$1,279,000 (2019:
HKS$nil) represent the repayment of capital and interest for capitalised lease
payments payable under tenancy agreement during the year ended 30 June
2020 with the application of HKFRS 16.

Ms. Lam Lin Chu was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 21 May 2020.

Mr. So Kwok Hoo resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on
21 May 2020.

These directors of the Company received certain remuneration from the
parent company of the substantial shareholder of the Company which
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group a
management service fee for services provided by these directors as well as
other management personnel who are not the directors of the Company.
Details of these management services and the related expenses are set
out in Note 33. The amounts disclosed above represented the emoluments
paid or payable to these directors by the parent company of the substantial
shareholder of the Company which is included in the amounts disclosed in
Note 33(b).

Mr. Wang Honggian was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 May 2019.

Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks retired as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 22 November 2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and of the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for their services as
directors of the Company.

The bonus was determined in accordance with the performance of
the Group and of the individual.

There was no arrangement under which directors and chief executive
of the Company have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
the Company or the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

&

ETEFERA=THIEFE

"N EEMESw

Hrat -

(@ Andrew Ferguson’t A IR AR &) 21T
@E - PP TR 2 e BB EEITE
BEIRMHIRS 2B E -

AL & H b 18 B B 5E AN
1279000/%7z< T — N4 : 1,080,000
BIL) A7 % EEAndrew Fergusont
HEAEEZEEFERMZAIE &K
SERNBE_Z_ZFR_FT—NF A
_JrEIiEJ*?%;%%E/\ H 1,279,000
BIT(ZT—NF : mmmn%m¢
THIT(=—T—N% : 1,080,000/57T) R
BRNREABEERSE  M1,279,000%

T(ZE—NEF : BT BERE AU
HELELFEIHEREE S _TFA
—+H¢¢F1§@$ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁéu§ﬁﬁmé
MEAENRES KFIE -

(b) MERLLTHN_Z_ZTFRA_+—HE
BRI VN 73F$ﬁ17§$

© WEZREER_T_TFRA_+—HEF
EXIN 73F$ﬂf7§$

) ZEARRERFAARAERER(ER
REEREEERE) 2 2 RWERE T
8 ZERERZEEEARILIEAR
RIEEZ HMER A Bttt 2 RBGRA
SEWRERRBE - AAZEEERG
KRR E AR IB B HTRES3 « EXCINER
HMEBEREARAIZER 2HRFIC T
KN 2 EE B (G AMRES3(0)
BHEEA) °

© RRGRER S NERA-_+NBEE
é{f’c?%ZM} T?@L?F%ﬂﬁ§$

() Robert Moyse Willcocks %t £ — & — 1
g; A=+ - REREARTELIENTT

EXFTRMTEE e T ERBERT
REEEEARBRAEEEHEER L
ARG S A ©

EXFRIERITE S B IFITES
IS EBRFEERTARAESZH
B e

E,‘\IE$ETJ§$%2@E&{A2’%£%%
E o

=tHIEFE ZIKA *E)Hﬂ%ﬂi%&
gm%ﬁﬁl)\ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ%ﬂ“ﬁ&%&ﬁ%@
=

REBE_ZE_ZTFR_F—NF/NA
=T HILFE AEELEFRERAR
REEHASERARETATIIE
AINE - YEAMRSIE A IMAKRE
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two
(2019: two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other three (2019: three) individuals were as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other benefits & - 284 & EAEF

Discretionary bonus FYIBTEAL
Retirement benefits schemes RIREHET B

contributions

The emoluments of the three (2019: three) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

E-B-RFAASTALFE

12 B5aME AL

AEBEGEEMEzERALH  ME
ZENF MB)B/ARRESF - H
e WERMTI - BASKRT=5
(ZZF—NF: ZR)ALTZHEEEH

Fan

2020
e

—_—

HK$’000
FERT

5,577
4,505
54

10,136

2019
—ET-NF
HK$'000
FHBT

5,468
1,904
54

7,426

BEaMez=2(ZF—hF: =8)A

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000

1,500,0018 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,00178 7T 22,500,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
6,000,001 7T % 6,500,000/ 7T

THMEe N FATEHE :

2020 2019
—B-%F —E-NEF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

EBEAY EEABL
1 2
1 —
- 1
1 -



For the year ended 30 June 2020

13. DIVIDENDS

Dividends recognised as distribution to owners of the Company
during the year:

2019 interim dividend declared E ﬁ—"—n¢$%
— HK10 cents (2019: 2018 interim B — 108 (=Z—
dividend declared — HK6 cents with a FEER-_ZT— )\¢
scrip dividend option) fhERRR B — 681l -

ARELRRE)

s [ok

pu)

During the year ended 30 June 2020, an interim dividend of HK10
cents (2019: HK6 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of HK$121,890,000 (2019: HK$47,717,000), was declared in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2019 (2019: year ended 30 June
2018) and an amount of HK$121,890,000 is paid or payable in cash
(2019: an amount of HK$28,072,000 was selected to be settled by
cash and the remaining amount of HK$19,645,000 was selected
to be settled by the issue of 17,318,628 new ordinary shares of the
Company).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company declared an interim dividend of HK10 cents per ordinary
share (in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 30 June 2020
(2019: interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend) of HK10 cents).

E-E-REAASTALFE

13! Hﬁ/%\

FARABRRBRARNRREE AN KR

e

2020 2019
—z-2F —T—nE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
121,890 47,717

HE—_Z-_ZFA=+tHLEFE "
ZNTR jETﬁ@E_ifﬂﬁ/\ﬂ_ﬂ’
AEFE(ZE—NF  BE-_ZT—N\
FRA=ZTHIEFE)SRPHKE
BREBEBZIOBIWU(=ZZE—NF : 68
fill) - #8%8 A121,890,000/8 7t (= &
— N : 47,717,000/ 7T ) * M4 4
121,890,000 7% 7T MA 38 & X 1+ 3k & 1+t
—E—LF : £%28,072,00078 T
BUARS N - MHR%E19,645,000/8 7T
IRIEFHBILIT17,318,6280 A A AlFHT
BREA) -

RBEHKRE  ZRREZERES
zgzﬁﬁﬁﬂz+5¢$f pirdas!
HARS B T I B A1 OB Il (R & R EAR%
B ZZE—h&F : PHRE(RE R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

14, (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
HK$429,401,000 (2019: profit of HK$608,432,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,218,893,914 (2019: 894,232,466)

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019. The diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per

share for the year ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

II 78 APAC Resources Limited 5 K &R AR A 7]
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BE-_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

14, B8R (BE) BF
(a) EBREX(EFE) ER

BREXR(EE) B THRE
FRAARAEAE AFENEIB
429,401,000/ L ( ZE—NLF : &
#1608,432,000/8 L) R B E#E1TE R
% 2z hn#E ¥ #9 801,218,893,914 i

—T— N4 1 894,232,466% ) 5t

b

5_0

(b) EREF(EE) BF

REEZZ-ZFR_T—NFX
A=+HtFEREDHTEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

e P EmRE(E)

BE_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y12 ~ BE R &1E
Leasehold
improvements,
Right-of-use furniture Office Motor
assets and fixtures equipment Computers vehicles Total
HENERE
FREER BAR%E WAERE el HE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL T T Th ThIL
Cost A
At1 July 2018 RZE-\F+F-H - 3,339 116 1,436 1,789 6,680
Additions AE = - 10 907 - 917
At30 June 2019 RZE-NERA=TH - 3339 126 2343 1,789 7,597
Impact on initial application of BREERANRREER 4,863 = = = - 4,863
HKFRS 16 (Note (j) 6% 2(M2))
At 1 July 2019 RZE-NFLA-H 4,863 3339 126 2,343 1,789 12,460
Additions RE 2,608 - - 186 - 2,794
Lease modification &3] 957 - - - - 957
Exchange adjustments EXEE (12) = = = = (12)
At 30 June 2020 RZF-FE A=1H 8416 3,339 126 2,529 1,789 16,199
Accumulated depreciation 2HHE
At 1 July 2018 R=E-\EtF-H - 2,123 104 1,326 1,760 5913
Charge for the year Efx - 222 3 89 2 316
At30June2019and 1 July 2019 R-E-NERA=THR = 2,945 107 1,415 1,762 6,229
“E-NEtA-H
Charge for the year Rz 3908 182 4 233 - 4327
Bxchange adustments i3 L (10) = = g - (10
At 30 June 2020 A\—B-ZF A=1H 3898 3,121 111 1,648 1,762 10,546
Carrying amounts RAE
At 30 June 2020 Ay e 4518 212 15 881 2 5,653
At 30 June 2019 RZE-NERA=TA - 394 19 928 2 1,368

Annual Report 2020 % | /9



For the year ended 30 June 2020

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of

underlying asset is as follows:

Properties leased for own use,

carried at depreciated cost (note (i)
Equipment leased for own use,

carried at depreciated cost (note (i)

RITERATIRRE

B REEWE A2 6))
BRI ERAT AR

B PR &R (a2 i)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in

profit or loss is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets by class of underlying asset:
— Properties leased for own use
— Equipment

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9(a))
Expense relating to short-term leases
and other leases with remaining
lease term ending on or before

30 June 2020

Total minimum lease payments
for leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17

HIRAEERER SN
EREEENEERM
—BREEYE
— R

HEBENE (HiE9@a)
FpTHEN — T —TF
NAZ+HHRE®ZE
T ZEHHE N
A EMRRE S
SRIRIBER ST R
FATHED TR AKE

HEMHRED
RIEBE R4

BHE_Z-ZFA=Z+HIFE

15. ¥ - BERZRE @

REEEERN S D ERBEEERRT

FESFTT

30 June 2020
—F-%F
ANA=TH

HK$’000
THET

4,331

187

4,518

1 July 2019
—E-NEF
+tHA—H
HK$’000
FAET
4,604

259

4,863

REBESERNEEEGROHER D

T

30 June 2020
S
~A=+8

HK$’000
T

3,827
81

3,908

240
89

1 July 2019
—E-hEF
+H—H
HK$’000
FAT
(note (i)
(H1720)

3,422



For the year ended 30 June 2020

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

0} The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-
use assets at 1 July 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See Note 4.

(ii) Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its offices and staff
quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 years.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period
after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks
to include such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide
operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the
Group is not reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the
future lease payments during the extension periods are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

(iii) Other leases

The Group leases office equipment under leases expiring in 5 years. Some
leases include an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated,
while some include an option to purchase the leased equipment at the end
of the lease term at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None
of the leases includes variable lease payments.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were HK$2,608,000, which is
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities
are set out in Note 24.

As at 30 June 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

(E_T_TFERA=THIFE

15. % - BERZRE @

Kt -

() AEEERAKETEPWETRERE
BUBREENE165  WHER -F
—NFLA—BNFNHEER - AERE
ERNREEESAENFITRIER
REBENHEREBRNERREE - 1

—NFEA-BYREREREER
Ek - NEE(EREEAN)RRERER
BEENTE @ MIBBENERRER
HHANGLHE T EEHERBNIK
o BUTE  HBREBRATESN - R
FfaE4 -

(i) BRMAEmE

AEEREEEHENSEYEBIER
%%ﬁ&alﬁ%%%ﬂ ZEHEN
IRTERR R AW E -

ETHEBEANERRSHEEAE
SNERFEI R IRAE o HEFRAITT - AKE
SRMAAREATENBRAERRE
% DR 2ETER - AEEREE
R BB E R 2D A A EREEA TR
BRI - MAKEEES BT R
TTEREREEE - BIEREINAARRAE
ENRTFARERENE -

iy EmHEE

AEEBEREFNERNELEEH
NRERME - A THOBEEBR I EH
BERPTA GRH R R - s — L0

BENISERRRGERERERE
RNEEREHERERERE - %5
BB SEAZEBEENK -

FA - EAEEERE52,608,000/87T
R EHEENNEAMCEERNS ﬁ%

AREENERSREAREEEERHAMN
DT FIEHN M 24 -

RZZ-ZFA=+H  EHEESESHEU

EXFRENE R SR PSR EEE
aa -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

e P BHmRE(E)

BE-_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

16. REEE N F 2 s

2020 2019

—s-%F —T-nF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHBT

Interests in associates before NN ey 2,105,590 1,034,861

impairment (note (j)) CRUERT) (K1720)

Impairment losses recognised (note (i) B HERBABEE(H757()) (580,014) (30,400)
1,525,576 1,904,461

Fair value of listed investments ETREZATHE 1,500,361 1,864,772

Notes:
(i) The balance includes cost of interests in associates, after adjustment for
sharing of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of

associates, dividend received and exchange differences.

(ii) The movement of the impairment losses recognised is as below:

(i) HEHRBEREEA

BB - BB

BODIEBE R RWIBREA R bR
mdEs - WIS R ER -

(i) CERIREEERZEIHNT

2020 2019

e —TNF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT TFET

At beginning of the year REF] (30,400) (673,839)
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE (580,014) (12,951)
Reversal of impairment loss B #RERE R 30,400 656,390
At end of the year RER (580,014) (30,400)

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group carried
out review on impairment loss on the carrying amounts of its interests in
Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“MGX”) and Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami”) by
comparing their recoverable amounts (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its respective carrying amounts. The (impairment
loss)/reversal of impairment loss on interests in associates recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020,
net, are as follows:

RBERR  AEEETEEERAR
Mount Gibson Iron Limited ([ MGX ) &
Tanami Gold NL([ Tanami J) 7 #3252
EHMERESE  FEABETKE
CHE(FEAEEREDTERLEXKAM
ERREE)BESANKREELE -
REBEEZT-_TFA=THLFEZ
REBRRERCRBERNR ZER L
CREESR), BESRERIEFEANT

2020 2019

ZEZEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

MGX (580,014) 656,390
Tanami 30,400 (12,951)
(549,614) 643,439
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-_Z-ZFA=1THILFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. REEZ DT 2= @)
Details of the Group’s interests in associates, which are accounted REBRES N R 2 R (RESER
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, SEEMBEHRRAR)GEBFOT ¢

are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

LT L b
Place of Issued and paid Group's
Listed/ establishment/  up registered effective ~ Held by the Heldby  Principal
Name of company unlisted ~ operation capital interest Company  subsidiaries  activities
1/ R/ BRARAR 13-4 b} %] HEAR
G v BEnd EfRE Enig bt BE IEER
TE(15)85ERAT  Unised  ThePRC/MePRC  Paid-up capital of 40% 40% - Wholesales, import and export, agency senice
RWB50,000,000 (2019:40%)  (2019: 40%) 2019: Ni) and relevant senvice for coal, coke, material
out of registered capital for metallurgy, mineral products, chemical
of RMB50,000,000 enginegring proalucts, mechanical and
electrical equipment and spare parts, stegl
and stegl products, construction material and
related products and technology.
kL /R MREARS 40% 40% - R B0 EEREREEER 2K
50,000,0007C (ZE-nE: (ZE0E: (CB-0E: neM BMER (EIRER
PERRAARY 40%) 40%) B)  EHREESMREMS BRHER
50,000,0007C AR R BB 2 e
Mount Gibson lron Limited ~~ Listed Australia/Australia ~ 1,157,682,542 36.14% = 36.14%  Mining of hemattte iron ore in Westem Australia.
(MGX') (note 477 (3) ordinary shares (2019: 33.23%) (2019: i)~ (2019: 33.23%)
(2019: 1,128,369,730
ordinary shares)
] 2/ 1,157,682, 5428 36.14% - 1% NERNRRAERE -
ERR(CE0E: (CE0E: (CRRE: (CBE
1,128,369,730% 33.23%) & 33.23%)
EER)
Tanami Gold NL (‘Tanami’)  Listed Australia/Australia — 1,175,097,046 46.30% - 46.30%  Gold exploration in Tanami Desert stradding
(note 475 b) ordinary shares (2019: 43.55%) (2019: i)~ (2019: 43.55%) the Western Australian and Northern Terrtory
(2019: 1,175,097,046 border.
ordinary shares)
i 2N/ %A 1,175,007 0461, 46.30% - 46.30%  HTanami Desont( REEEHR L B i257)
EAR(CE-nE: (CB-0E (CR-nE: (CENE: EfERRR
1,175,007, 046 4355%) &) 4355%)

LER)



For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(@

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 33.23% as at 30 June 2019 to 35.14% as at 30 June 2020.
Such increase is mainly due to the combined effects of MGX’s issuance of
1,705,800 restricted shares to senior management, acquisition of 9,716,569
shares in MGX and the Group’s reinvestment of its dividends entitled from
MGX in exchange of MGX’s 22,217,842 new ordinary shares. The Group
recognised a loss of HK$1,679,000 from the deemed disposal of its partial
interest in MGX upon MGX’s issuance of the restricted shares and the Group
recognised a goodwill of HK$22,641,000, which is included in the Group’s
interest in MGX, from the acquisition of additional shares in MGX and
reinvestment of its entitled dividends into MGX.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 32.20% as at 30 June 2018 to 33.23% as at 30 June
2019. Such increase was mainly due to the combined effects of MGX’s
issuance of 2,998,351 restricted shares to senior management and the
Group’s reinvestment of its dividends entitled from MGX in exchange of
MGX’s 21,882,844 new ordinary shares. The Group recognised a loss of
HK$3,762,000 from the deemed disposal of its partial interest in MGX upon
MGX’s issuance of the restricted shares and the Group recognised a goodwill
of HK$1,076,000, which was included in the Group’s interest in MGX, from
the reinvestment of its entitled dividends into MGX.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s shareholdings in Tanami
increased from 43.55% to 46.30% due to acquisition of 32,238,736 shares
in Tanami. The cash consideration for the acquisition was A$1,454,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,684,000). The Group recognised a
goodwill of HK$745,000, which is included in the Group’s interest in Tanami,
from its acquisition of additional interest in Tanami.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s shareholdings in Tanami
increased from 38.09% to 43.55% due to acquisition of 64,169,922 shares
in Tanami. The cash consideration for the acquisition was A$2,394,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$13,443,000). The Group recognised a
goodwill of HK$1,424,000, which is included in the Group’s interest in
Tanami, from its acquisition of additional interest in Tanami.

2T EFAA=ZTHIEFE

16. REEE N B 2R @)

wiiz -

@

REE-_Z-_ZFA=tTHIFE &K
EERAMCXZ BER=_Z—NFA A=+
AH2Z3328%EME—_S-_FF A=+
H.235.14% - A BN T+ ZHKMGX
A= 4R B 1 B %5 771,705,800 A% PR Il %
7~ UREEMGXH)9,716,569R% A 1 K AN &
E A 7 B MGXUR BN A IR B B R & IR E
MGX%éfﬁE’Jzz 217,842 ¥ LB E

HEE - REERMGXEITIREHIRMNE
ERRIEREERMGXZ B EREL
2 E5181,679,00078 7T R AN B R IG E
MGX& 7 K 1% E BT Z AR B B 1% E R MGX
B4 2 222,641,000/ 7T (s AREE
AMGXZ #25) °

REBE-Z-—NAEXA=TAHLEE &K
% @FMGXZM&’EL? NEANA=F
AZ3220%EME-_S—NFA=1+
H233.23% ° BRI MNTIEE HHMGCX
A= 4B TR B 3 172,998,351 AL 57 IR 1 A%
19 2 7 52 8 5 #E B MGX UK B /9 % B B 4%
& L‘MQHXMGX?‘%E’JZ 882,844 % 37 &
BERAEHEE - KAEBERMGXEITRR
%IJHﬂ“’%:ﬁEWW'EHj & H AMGX Z 55D 1

RE 4 2 E5 183,762,000/ 7T K AN £ B 7
REBEMEREBRENMGXELEZHE
1,076,000/ 7T (AR EBRMGXZ #2

) o

EA@@;E 7f7¢/\ﬁ +E|Jt¢ﬁ
£ 72 Ug B8 Tanami #9 32,238,736 A% A% 1
7R &2 B A Tanami 2 AR R 43.55% 15 N &
46.30% ° Z BRI &R E A1,454,000
SRIT (FRE R 47,684,000/ 7T ) - ANEE
ERHE W B TanamiZBEIMERS EA 2 G2
745,000 7T (5T A R & B 7 Tanami 2 #
=)o
REBEZE-_ZT-AEANA=ZTHLEFE -
£R 7 W & Tanami 8 64,169,922 A% i% 17
K2 B 7 Tanami 2z % # £ 38.09% & i &
43.55% ° Z W &8 /2,394,000
SRIT (FEE R #13,443,000/7T)  ANEE
BREWE TanamizBIMERE L 2 2
1,424,000/ 7T (T AR E B Tanami 2 #
=) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. REEZ DT 2= @)

At the end of the reporting period, in view of decrease (2019:
increase) in share price of MGX, the management of the Group
carried out review on impairment loss (2019: reversal of impairment
loss) on the carrying amount of its interest in MGX by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. In determining the value in use of
MGX, the Group estimated the present value of the future cash flows
expected to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated based
on the cash flows from the operations of MGX and the proceeds on
the ultimate disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into account the
estimated future prices and production volume of hematite iron ores
of MGX, a discount rate of 9.4% (2019: 9.4%) and historical dividend
payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less costs of disposal of MGX
was determined based on the closing price of the shares of MGX
listed on the ASX at the end of each reporting period. As at 30 June
2020, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in MGX, which
represents the fair value less costs of disposal of HK$1,320,852,000
(2019: HK$1,738,665,000), is lower (2019: higher) than its carrying
amount. Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$580,014,000 (2019:
a reversal of impairment loss of HK$656,390,000) is recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2020.

At the end of the reporting period, in view of increase in carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Tanami during the year ended
30 June 2020, the management of the Group carried out
impairment review on the carrying amount of its interest in Tanami
by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying amount. In
view of the material uncertainty associated with the exploration for
and evaluation of the mineral resources possessed by Tanami, no
sufficient information is available for the management of the Group
to estimate future cash flows used in the value in use calculation.
Therefore, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
Tanami is based on its fair value less costs of disposal, which
has been determined based on the closing price of the shares of
Tanami listed on the ASX at the end of the reporting period. As at
30 June 2020, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
Tanami, which represents the fair value less costs of disposal of
HK$179,150,000 (2019: HK$126,107,000), is higher (2019: lower)
than its carrying amount. Accordingly, a reversal of impairment loss
of HK$30,400,000 (2019: impairment loss of HK$12,951,000) is
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2020.

RIREHAR - ERMCXEIREB (=
T—NF: b)) AEEEREBE
FW%Z% SZzalel &5 (FREER
HEAFEREEXNAT ZRSE)HEE
BREEELE WS 2 RmEE
TREEBE®RS (22— IE : @R
EEE) - EETMGX FREEE -
REBEFFMCXIR BTEE B EL 2 Kk
RIBEMEZIRE © I TR IEMGEXEE
CAEREESRENRRELHEMGXZ
FriS B MG s o B B1E 5T RMGX
NEEAMGETRRERRESZ T
ET94%(:2 jv¢ 9.4% ) A &
MGXZ B F R B X - MGXZ A F1ER
MEW$EEFRﬁ¢%XMyW
RETETRDZWHEERE - K=
—EFEXA=1H - $EIBQMGXZ
ez oyl Bl & 58 (B A AR S
75)1,320,852,000/8 7T ( — T — L4 :
1,738,665,00078 70 ) (K (=& — L4 :
B)RERAE - Bt REZE_ZT =
TENAZTHIEFEZIEBRERR
S {8 5 18 580,014,0008 L ( ZZF — A1
F ¢ EEREETI8656,390,000/8 7T ) °

E’\#Eiﬁﬂﬂi %EAEA%Zi TE/\
A=1+HIt&E $EIB’\\Tanam|E’J
BREEERT L  AEEEEER
E i Tanamiz #z 2 A] g 0] & FE 8 H

FREEIELLR - Yzt s 2 FREEETT
R AT o ZER B IR M AT {h Tanami B

ANRBELSREEEATEEMY - MK
EEEEEY & T ER A AMEEHE
ﬁﬂﬁfﬁtl' Fﬁﬂ%ﬂ’]ﬂi}(fﬁimé .Uilf,
- ANEE R TanamitEz 2 Al W @ £ %8
DEREAFEREEXAS @ RIEHRE
HA K Tanami R 32 BT M i 5 2 Ye
{Efi EA_’Y’_?E'E/\)EJ JFE K
ElJE’\'I'anamIZﬁ%ﬁnz—MﬂZ@ > KA (BD
N AE R &R ) 179,150,000 7T
(ZZ—A%F : 126,107,000 T) & (=
T—NF R)REREE - BEitt - ®
%Z?:fvaﬂz/\ﬁ ‘f’E]JJ:ﬁErZTE'
= AR FERR B R (B E518.80,400,00078 7T
T NF  BEFE12,951,000%
JT) °



For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associates, adjusted
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed below:

MGX

Gross amounts of MGX MGX 2 4858
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current assets MENEEE
Current liabilities mENE G
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Equity s
Revenue g

Profit from continuing operations SEACE TGS R T
Post-tax loss from discontinued operations 2 4% 1HAE & %75 2 Br B4

718
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  Efh 2 (HZH), Wiz

Total comprehensive income FHEWS B

Dividend paid by MGX MGXZ 2 B &

The Group’s share of profit of MGX REBDIEMGXZ 7
(note (i) (H1#0))

The Group’s share of other REEDIEMGX 2 H A
comprehensive income of MGX 2HKE

The Group’s share of total AEESEZFAZE
comprehensive income for the year Wz 4a 58

Dividend declared by MGX attributable to  ZR&EE E(EMGXPIE IR 2
the Group (note (i) A& B (ft a2 i)

Reconciled to the Group’s interest ELREEMGXZ
in MGX: R AR

Net assets of MGX MGX2Z B EFE

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REEEARE 2 IS

interest
The Group’s share of net assets of MGX ~ ZRE2E 5 {5EMGX2.
BEFE
Goodwill [k
Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE

Carrying amount of the Group’s REBEPMCXZ Y

interest in MGX

fREE

E-B-RFAASTALFE

16. REEE N B 2R @)

IBBERRCHMBERARE(CHE

SR 2B ERIEHFE - i

=
o=}

IEHMRAZ REAESR)RENT :

Notes:

()  The Group’s share of profit of MGX for the year ended 30 June 2020 is after
adjustment of the unrealised profit of HK$5,591,000 (2019: 4,821,000) arising
from the upstream sales of MGX.

(i)  The Group reinvested dividend of HK$79,715,000 (2019: HK$60,674,000)
into MGX in return for its ordinary shares.

MGX
2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TR
1,692,683 1,641,667
2,590,380 2,451,438
(431,629) (400,509)
(281,803) (237,021)
3,569,631 3,355,575
2,373,949 1,623,077
443,254 747,090
441,926 747,786
(1,811) 320
440,115 748,106
240,115 188,973
147,195 241,167
180 669
147,375 241,836
79,715 60,674
3,569,631 3,355,575
35.14% 33.23%
1,254,525 1,114,965
646,341 623,700
(580,014) .
1,320,852 1,738,665

Kt -

() BEZZ-_ZTFA=THIEFE &
& B 515 MGX s F1| T5 45 #8 B MGX L 7 8
EEAZ REIEFI5,501,0008TT(=F
—L4E : 4,821,000/87T) ©

iy ANEBRBRET9,7150008T(=F—AN
£ : 60,674,000/ 7T ) 1% B AMGX A
R E AR -



For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Tanami

Gross amounts of Tanami
Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity

Revenue
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Dividend paid by Tanami

The Group’s share of (loss)/profit
of Tanami

The Group’s share of other
comprehensive income of Tanami

The Group’s share of total
comprehensive income for the year

Dividend declared by Tanami attributable
to the Group

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in
Tanami:

Net assets of Tanami

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest

The Group’s share of net assets of
Tanami

Goodwill

Impairment loss recognised

Carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Tanami

TanamiZ %8
IEMBNEE
MENEE
mENBE
ERBAE

R

g
SEICE ETSTE
(&), & F
Hib 2GS
PERG BT
Tanamisz 1+ 2 % 8.

AEE DG Tanamiz
(&), & F

AEE DG Tanamiz E
2mEdEE

AEBSMGZFREA
U zh 4%

7R & @ (G Tanami
FrEik2 iR &

ELRE [E R Tanamiz
MRS HTER

Tanamiz &&= FE

NEE AR L

AEE D (ETanamiz
BEFE

EES

BHERBEEE

REE PR TanamiZ
s 7 BREE

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

16. REEE N B 2R @)

Tanami
2020
—EC-EHE

—_—= =

HK$’000
FERx

172,163
189,667
(431)
(9,106)
352,293

(3,957)

11,003
7,046

(1,818)

5,104

3,286

352,293
46.30%

163,097

2,169

165,266

2019
—ET-NF
HK$'000
FHET

174,984
187,302
(372)
(5,810)
356,104

96,405

8,360
104,765

30,491

3,375

33,866

356,104
43.55%

155,083

1,424
(30,400)

126,107



For the year ended 30 June 2020

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

An associate that is not individually material

The Group’s share of this associate’s:
Profit from continuing operations

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in
this associate:

Net assets of this associate

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in this associate

AEEDSGZEE AT
SEIE RS E T
HEh 2w
FAEERRERE

E‘@$$‘E€§ZH§%%QEZ

% %%A TZEE@TE
REEHERZ L)

REERZBE R
a2 BRE(E

Az

\

The associates have initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative

information is not restated.

As disclosed in the annual report of MGX for the year ended 30 June
2020, there is contingent liabilities, details of which are extracted

below:

“1. The Group has a Performance Bonding facility drawn to a total
of A$6,587,000 as at balance date (2019: A$7,087,000). The
performance bonds secure the Group’s obligations relating
primarily to environmental matters and infrastructure assets.

2. Certain claims arising with customers, employees, consultants,
and contractors have been made by or against certain controlled
entities in the ordinary course of business, some of which
involve litigation or arbitration. The Directors do not consider
the outcome of any of these claims will have a material adverse
impact on the financial position of the consolidated entity.”

(E_T_TFERNA=THIEFE

16. REEE N B 2R @)

BRI FEBER 2 —EBE QT
2020 2019
—BECEF — N
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1,168 2,092
1,168 2,092
98,645 99,223
40% 40%
39,458 39,689

BERRERBEETEREBRE
RBEMBHREERFE165 - LIt T
* HBERATET -

BUMCGXEE T -_FF NA=+H
IEFEZFRAAEE  GEIAEE
FRIEMEIT

[1. XEERGE HIEREAREHE
/::/\6 587000 T (= FE—JL4F :
7,087,00087T ) ° JEAIRGZIERA
FET ZEHREEEREZEESE

HIE LA
2. BETXEHERR —REBEETF

FEL BB IR HES  ER
BRI RABBELNETHE &
DHERFRENCE, o EFEITB
T FRFNGE A ENRERE
HIRT RSB B AT a"/%?él‘ J



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

17. INVENTORIES 17. B&
2020 2019
—T-FF —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Iron ores A 108,356 53,802

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. 2 A FENE = REE ([ &

PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”) AEEREZREE )z
mEE
2020 2019
= —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
(a) Listed securities held-for-trading: @ HEEEZ FTES
— Equity securities listed in —REB LT IR 213,948 130,690
Hong Kong EH
- Equity securities listed in the — R iz A 18,607 27,785
United Kingdom FEH
— Equiity securities listed in Australia — RN BT 2 IR 300,298 86,986
-
— Equity securities listed in Canada —RINEXREmZR 86,667 120,725
- Equity securities listed in the —RERE T ZIRA 9,538 25,916
United States of America EH
629,058 392,102
(b) Unlisted equity investments (note ()  (b) FE_ETHIRAIEE (A732(3)) 8,291 21,369

(c) Listed securities not held withinthe  (¢) WIEH{EBEEAHE 2

trading portfolios: LEmEs
— Equity securities listed in Australia — RN ET 2 58,398 275,638
AR 5
(d) Derivative financial instruments: 0 TTESRIE : 11,414 -
— Warrants — RIAETE
() Convertible notes (note (i) ) TFIIARRZERE (A7) 9,690 10,873

716,851 699,982



For the year ended 30 June 2020

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”) (continued)

BEAHERERE

The carrying amount of the financial

assets at FVTPL is presented as: BIEZEREEY
FEERYA:

— Non-current assets —EmEBEE

- Current assets —RBEE

Notes:

U

(i)

These unlisted equity investments primarily represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by two private entities incorporated in Bailiwick of
Guernsey (the “Private Entity 1”) and Australia (the “Private Entity II”),
respectively. These unlisted equity investments are measured at fair values
and the details of the fair value measurement are set out in Note 32(h).

The fair value measurement was carried out by GW Financial Advisory
Services Limited (“GW Financial”) (2019: Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited), an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the
Group.

In previous year, the Group subscribed convertible notes with a nominal
value of US$1,200,895 from the Private Entity |, which carry 12% coupon
interest per annum and will mature on 30 November 2022. The interests, at
the Private Entity I’'s option, are payable in cash quarterly or on the maturity
date of the convertible notes or settled by the allotment and issue of the
conversion shares. The convertible notes are guaranteed by the Private Entity
| and certain of its related companies. The Group is entitled to convert the
convertible notes into preference shares of the Private Entity | at a conversion
price of US$0.145 per preference share at any time from the subscription
date to the maturity date.

The fair values of these convertible notes as at 30 June 2020 are estimated
by GW Financial (2019: Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited) using valuation
techniques and key inputs as disclosed in Note 32(h).

BHE_Z-ZFA=Z+HIFE

18 BAFENREZRERE ([1&
APEEREZREER )z
A& E )

2020 2019
—z-=F e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiET FHET
76,379 307,880
640,472 392,102
716,851 699,982

Hiat

() HEFLMBAREEZZERLERMESD
BIRIRFESITHE ([FAAEE— ) RN
([FAAEE = )M 2 FLAETREFTE
TZIELETRAES - ZEIELTRAR
BIRATFEFNE  MAFEAEZFEH
WM FES2(h) ©

NYHEFE TR EARRE Y EEENE L
BEREEGLEMREUNBEAREER
~E)([BER%]) (=T —NF @R
BENEBERARRR])ETT o

(i) RBEFE AEFALAEBR—RER
f5/1,200,895% L2 AR EE - BE
FREE12% W T -_—F+— A8
=+ 85 - AAERE—WRERNBIRE
KR BREEI ARSI - iE
BELE M EATEIRR D T o TR
HIABE—REETEEQRAER - A
EEARRRERZI A 2 TEMEZ
R EFRE L IR0.145 T AT R 2=
EEBAIATE—2ExK-

R-B-BFAASHE  RETARR
2 AT EDEBEHE(CE—NF
R A RV AR 2R SR A
P S B\ B A EE 32 BB )
it



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES 19. EIRE R
2020 2019
—ECEF =N
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Fixed rate loan receivables: U E BB
— unsecured — R 349,343 210,515
— secured — B 124,139 191,461
473,482 401,976
Less: loss allowance (Note 32(a)) B SRR (A E32E) (4,606) (558)
468,876 401,418
The carrying amount of the loan EUWERZREE
receivables is presented as: 2545 -
— Non-current assets —ERBEE 317,813 -
— Current assets —RENEE 151,063 401,418
468,876 401,418
(a) Fixed rate loan receivables, net of loss allowance as at 30 June @ RZE_ZEFR_ZFT—NLF A
2020 and 2019 comprises: = t+tHMERE BER (kK ERE
) BIE
Carrying amount
Effective EEE
Principal amount Maturity date Security  Guarantee interest rate 2020 2019
KxEH HEA bRl ER 1 Gk - k33 —E-NE
(per annum) HK$’000 HK$'000
(8%) TiEn Tin
RMB180,000,000 12 July 2021 No Yes 5.5% 197,764 -
(note (j) (2019: N/A) (2019: N/A)
AR#180,000,0007 “EC-FtATCA i B 5.5%
(hiz) (ZZ-\F : NER) (ZB-NE:
TER)
HK$10,000,000 27 July 2023 No No 12% 8,602 -
(note (i) (2019: N/A) (2019: N/A)
10,000,000%7C “ZoCEHACHER OE i 12%
(frtn) (ZE-N\F : NER) (ZB-NE:

NER)



For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EIWE R (@)
(@) (Continued) @ &
Carrying amount
Effective EEE
Principal amount Maturity date Security  Guarantee interest rate 2020 2019
b H#A ERm BR ERAI= k- 33 ety f:3
(per annum) HK$'000 HK$'000
(8%) TR THL
HK$17,170,000 26 July 2021 No No 7% 17,125 -
(note (i) (2019: N/A) (2019:N/A)
17,170,000/ 7T “EC-FEACTRR OB i 7%
(frethiy) (ZZ-NE: TER) (ZE-N%:
TER)
HK$40,000,000 14 September 2020 Yes Yes 18% 38,644 -
(note (i) (2019: N/A) (2019: N/A)
40,000,000787C “ZCEENATIA B B 18%
(itiy) (Z5-05F: TER) (Z5-nE:
TEm)
RMB109,000,000 31 December 2021 No Yes 5.8% 123,046 123,652
(2019: RMB109,000,000) (2019: 31 March (2019: 8.0%)
(note (v)) 2020)
AR109,000,0007C e B 5.8%
(Z5—NE: ARE (Z5-NnE: (ZB—NE :80%)
109,000,0007t) (A2 ) “Z-FF=A=1-H)
HK$81,469,000 5 September 2020 Yes No 17.5% 83,695 191,461
(2019: HK$174,000,000) (2019: (2019: 23%)
(note (V) 3 October 2019)
81,469,000 ZZZTENARA B i3 17.5%
(Z2-0E: (Z5-0E: (ZB-NF : 23%)
1740000008 70) (M) — —Z-NETA=R)
A$10,000,000 30 September Yes Yes N/A - 55,267
(note (vij) 2019 (2019: 11.25%)
10,000,000 “E-NEAR=TA B B TER
(Hiz ) (Z5-NnE:
11.25%)
HK$31,000,000 N/A No No N/A - 31,038
(note (vii) (2019: 28 June (2019: 15.0%)
2019)
31,000,000%7 TEm i & TER
(B i) (Z5-NE: (Z5-NE:
ZZ-NERAZTNR) 15.0%)
468,376 401,418



For the year ended 30 June 2020

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2019,
14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and the circular of the Company dated 20
June 2019, on 23 May 2019, Ultra Effort Limited ( “Ultra Effort”, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) as the lender entered into the loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement” ) with Best Advantage Limited (“Best
Advantage”) as the borrower and Tian An China Investments Company
Limited (“Tian An”) as the guarantor, pursuant to which, Ultra Effort agreed
to, among other things, make available to Best Advantage a revolving loan
(the “Loan Facility” ) in the amount not exceeding HK$235,000,000 (or
an amount equivalent to HK$235,000,000 in such alternative currency as
acceptable to and agreed by Ultra Effort) at an interest rate of 5.5% per
annum, secured by a guarantee and indemnity provided by Tian An and
repayable on 24 months from the date of first drawdown. Best Advantage is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The principal amount of RMB180,000,000 is equivalent to approximately
HK$197,361,000 out of the revolving loan limit of HK$235,000,000.

The contractual interest charged at 5.5% per annum is payable monthly by
Best Advantage.

On 14 July 2020, the maturity date of this loan was extended from 16 March
2020 to 27 July 2023.

The contractual interest charged at 12% per annum is payable quarterly by
the borrower.

On 21 August 2020, the Group has entered into the supplemental loan
agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan agreement,
the maturity date of the loan has been extended from 24 July 2020 to 26 July
2021.

The contractual interest charged at 7% per annum is payable monthly by the
borrower.

The loan is guaranteed by shareholder and director of the borrower, and also
guaranteed by certain individuals related to the borrower. The loan is secured
by a share mortgage over the entire issued capital of the borrower.

On 8 September 2020, the Group has entered into the supplemental loan
agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan agreement,
the maturity date of the loan has been extended from 14 August 2020 to
14 September 2020. On 23 September 2020, the borrower proposed to
further extend the loan repayment date to March 2021 and the directors of
the Company intend to extend the loan repayment date to March 2021. The
negotiation of the other terms of the supplemental loan agreement is still in
progress at the date of this report.

The contractual interest charged at 18% per annum is payable monthly by
the borrower.

(E_T_TFERA=THIFE
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

W)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

The loan is guaranteed by the ultimate holding company of the borrower
which is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

The maturity date of this loan was extended from 30 September 2019 to
31 March 2020 during the year ended 30 June 2019. On 13 September
2019, the Group has entered into the loan agreement with the borrower
and its guarantor. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the maturity date of the
loan has been further extended to 31 December 2021. Details of the loan
agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement on 13 September
2019.

The principal amount of RMB109,000,000 is equivalent to HK$119,513,000
(2019: HK$123,851,000) out of the loan limit of HK$125,000,000 (2019:
HK$225,000,000).

The contractual interest charged at 8% per annum is payable quarterly by the
borrower.

Details of the securities are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
29 September 2018 and 19 July 2019.

At 30 June 2020, the effective interest rate comprises fixed interest rate of
17.5% per annum.

At 30 June 2019, the effective interest rate comprised fixed interest rate of
8% per annum, default interest rate of 6% per annum since 3 April 2019 and
participation fee of 9% per annum.

On 19 July 2019, the Group and other lenders entered into the supplemental
facility agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental facility
agreement, among other terms of the loan, the limit of loan has been raised
to HK$204,000,000 and the maturity date of the loan has been extended to
12 months after the second utilisation date of the loan (i.e. 5 August 2020).
Details of the supplemental facility agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2019.

The loan was fully settled on 3 September 2020.

The loan was guaranteed by a director of the borrower and secured by a
general security deed over the borrower. The effective interest rate at 30 June
2019 comprised fixed interest rate of 7.25% and default interest rate of 4.0%
per annum. The loan was fully settled during the year ended 30 June 2020.

On 9 July 2019, the Group entered into the supplemental loan agreement
with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan agreement, the maturity
date of the loan was further extended to 26 June 2020. The loan was fully
settled on that date.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

(b) The movements of loan receivables during the year are set out as

follows:

At 1 July 2018
Interest income
Interest received
New grant of loans
Repayment of loans

Reversal of impairment loss, net

Exchange difference

At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019

Interest income
Interest received

New grant of loans
Repayment of loans
Modification
Impairment loss, net
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2020

R-F-—N\FLA—B
MBHA

EHFE

FTIBE R

EEER

Bl R E E1EF 5
PE R

R-ZTZ-AFRA=THRK

—E-NF+tHA—H

FEMA

B U F &

FILER

EEER

1B

REEEF5E

[ 3 3R

(b)

R-B-FFAA=1H

(c) Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
from loan receivables are set out in Note 32(a).

20. LOAN NOTES

Loan notes issued by Sun Hung Kai & Co.

(BVI) Limited (“SHK BVI")

(©

19. EWEF (@)

FRRKER ZEBETINT

HK$’000
TAET

398,116
56,011
(42,033)
229,627
(229,602)
602
(11,303)

401,418

68,385
(60,015)
347,981
(278,527)
5,934
(4,048)
(12,252)

468,876

EREAEBEEIR LK EEKRER
EEXZEERRZE—FSHBIEHD
Bf3E32(a) °

20. EFREE

Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited
([SHK BVI]) {72 ERER

2020 2019
= ZFAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET
3,916 51,168



For the year ended 30 June 2020

20. LOAN NOTES (continued)

The movements of loan notes during the year are set out as follows:

(E_T_TFERNA=THIEFE

20. ERXEBwm)

FRERRBEZEHETIT

HK$’ 000

FHET

At 1 July 2018 RZE—N\FtH—H 51,420
Interest income BT A 2,401

Interest received BUFLE (2,399

Exchange difference b A= (254)
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 —E-AFRA=ZTER 51,168

—E-hF+HA—H

Interest income IS ON 1,010

Interest received EH&?‘J (1,3693)

Redemption of loan notes BRERE (46,997)
Exchange adjustments IZR aﬂ%é 98
At 30 June 2020 RZEZTFA=1H 3,916

On 24 May 2016, the Group subscribed loan notes with a nominal
value of US$4,000,000 from SHK BVI, a limited liability company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), which carry 4.75%
coupon interest per annum and originally mature on 31 May 2021.
SHK BVI early redeemed the loan note on 15 November 2019.

On 1 September 2017, the Group subscribed loan notes with a
nominal value of US$2,500,000 from SHK BVI, which carry 4.65%
coupon interest per annum and will mature on 8 September 2022.
SHK BVI early redeemed 80.1% of loan note on 15 November 2019.

Loan notes issued by SHK BVI are guaranteed by Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (“SHK”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. SHK BVl is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
from loan notes are set out in Note 32(a).

RZE—RNERA-FTMNA  AEEM
SHK BVI(—R A BEZES ([ EB
BLZBE MKz ABRAE)RE
H1E 44,000,000 T2 EHRERE - E
EREMNRELTE%MERN T

FRA=T—HEH - SHK BVIRZZE
—NE+—A+RARRFEOERE
% o

R-ZT—tFNA—H  AEEMESHK
BVIRREEEE A2,500,000F T2 ERE
B EEmMFARE4.65%  WiER—
T —FNAANBEE - SHK BVIR =

T NE+—A+RBIEFEEES0.1%
BREE -

SHKBVIE{TZ ERFEAMBESR
RAB(THBE]  —RREFEZEMAK
MZABRAT] - ERPRBERPT L)
R - SHK BVIRFTEEZ 2 EWB A
Ao

ERARSEEERREBERERE
EZEERRZE - T FHBERNME
32(a) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

e P EmRE(E)

BE_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

NESREMEWERRUKRE

RENTAL DEPOSITS EZe
2020 2019
—E-EF &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Trade receivables designated at EEZEATENERERRE Y 6,273 -
FVTPL (note (i) E SRR IR (A7)
Other receivables and deposits o A Y s 32,090 14,983
Rental deposits HEZe 546 512
Receivable from securities brokers FEU B A4S 40 X T8 4,485 9,341
Prepayments TEfRUR 713 1,236
44,107 26,072
Representing: 255
Current assets MENEE 43,568 26,072
Non-current assets ERENEE 539 -
44,107 26,072

Except for the non-current rental deposits, all of the trade and other
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense

within one year.

SRIERBEERSI  RHE2HESR
H A FEURRFRAS I — F AU = g oR /=

FIX °
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND M. ES R EMEWEEZI IR
RENTAL DEPOSITS (continued) =8 A D)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables designed at FVTPL based on invoice date,
which approximates the revenue recognition date, is as follows:

0-30 days 0-30H
31-60 days 31-60H

The Group sells iron ore commodities under provisional pricing
arrangements where final prices are based on prevailing spot
prices over a quotation period after shipment to the customers.
These trade receivables are designated at FVTPL on contract by
contract basis.

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days to its trade
customers from commodity business. Before accepting any new
customers, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits to it. The credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed regularly. Further details on the Group’s
credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set
out in Note 32(a).

BEREHR - BRI HENE
miRkaIE 2 B 5 RYSRFIZE R H
HI(HE s iR R HIARE ) 2 iRk D
s

2020 2019
—E-%f —TNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR 7
6,273 —
6,273 =

AEERIEERES E B PHHEETE
LM BRERRNTETRERP
BRENERERNBITREERR
E o % EHE P RBERTIRER &)
HEERFRERATENRERRE
# -

AEBERTERRESBZESRP
WEMFHEER - BEXENHE
Frl AEESTEBERFPNE
BEEXVETEFEERE - A%
Ehe rHRaEFREERRE -
ERAEBEEIRARE S ER
RRELEZEERRZE—FFHB
R EE32(a) °

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH, PLEDGED 2. $f{7&&KkRES - ODKFE
BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW TEFNHEMBEEREER
INFORMATION

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates, ranging from 0.001% to 2.08% (2019: 0.01%
to 3.28%) per annum.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure the Group’s trade and banking facilities and carry variable
interest rates ranging from 0.15% to 3.62% (2019: 0.30% to
3.00%) per annum.

BTHESREABETHEAME 2
FEFEBREAE - FREN T
0.001% E2.08% ( — & — L :
0.01%%3.28%) ©

BEERBIRITERIEAEE BES
B RIBTHREMBER FRITZ
TR EHR0.15%E3.62% (- =
— L : 0.30% & 3.00%) Z %5
FRIEFEE ©



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH, PLEDGED 22. $f{7&8RES - DEHEE
BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW TERMEMBEESREER

()  The closing balance is included in other payables (Note 23).

INFORMATION (continued) (%)
Bank and
other Dividend Lease
borrowings payables liabilities Total
HRITR
HMEE EERE HEaE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FHT THT
(note (i) (Note 24)
(B1a2()) (K1z#24)
At 1 July 2018 RZZE—N\FtHA—H 43,500 154 - 43,654
Changes from financing A S RE (45,520) (27,459) - (72,979)
cash flows
Cash dividend declared BEERESRE = 28,072 = 28,072
(Note 13) (B15£13)
Interest expenses FMERXZ (#:t9@E) 2,020 - - 2,020
(Note 9(a))
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-NF - 767 - 767
~A=+H
Impact on initial application & X fE &SI SR - = 4,863 4,863
of HKFRS 16 ZR|E 16T E
At 1 July 2019 R-E—-NE+A—H — 767 4,863 5,630
New lease entered FINEHE - - 2,608 2,608
Changes from financing BER S RE = (121,890) (4,145) (126,035)
cash flows
Lease modification HEE®R = = 939 939
Cash dividend declared EERRERE = 121,890 = 121,890
(Note 13) (K15£13)
Interest expenses FERXZ (#5t9@E) - - 240 240
(Note 9(a))
Exchange adjustments PE 5 = - 1) 1)
At 30 June 2020 RoT-—T& i 767 4,504 5,271
~NA=+H
Note: Bzt -

() EPRAERET AR AR (EE23) -



For the year ended 30 June 2020

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

E-B-RFAASTALFE

23 ESZ R HAEA IR

Trade payables designated at ETERAFE
FVTPL (note (i) REREREE
Z 5 N BRIR(AT7E0)
Other payables measured at REEK AT E R
amortised cost E b ER SR

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade
payables designated at FVTPL based on invoice date is as

follows:
0-30 days 0-30H
31-60 days 31-60H

The Group purchases iron ore commodities under provisional
pricing arrangements where final prices are based on prevailing
spot prices over a quotation period after shipment by the
supplier, MGX. These trade payables are designated at FVTPL
on contract by contract basis.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
one year or are repayable on demand.

2020 2019
—BSEF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET THT
61,852 5,415
23,591 7,396
85,443 12,811

BEREHR - BERAHENE
miREIEZ B HRMNRFIZERA

HIZ REAMTIAT
2020 2019
— —E-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TAT FHET
56,529 5,415
5,323 -
61,852 5,415

AREERIFERE T B R HREEE
A m - RRERREEEMGX
RERERERERNBITREE
RIRTE - % FE HRMNRFIZER
BREEETE HEATERBRRE
B o

B2 EE S MAMRMRIERN —F
NENREEREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

24, LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous
reporting periods and at the date of transition to HKFRS 16:

e P EmRE(E)

BE_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

2. FHEEE

TREINAKERNE R K E—REHHE
RERE AR BEE BB RELER
F165E ANEE B BB OBR

At 30 June 2020 At 1 July 2019 (Note) At 30 June 2019 (Note)
WZBZBERA=+A RAT-NELA-AFE) R-Z-NEXA=ZTRHE)
Present Present Present
value of the Total  value ofthe Total  value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease
payments  payments payments payments payments payments
BEfES BiEHs HEHS REfRE RERE RiEAS
HEE an kRE ] KRB e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TAL TAL TAL TAL
Within 1 year —ER 3,743 3,838 3,015 3,092 - -
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEBERER 664 707 1,706 1,821 - -
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRER 97 112 142 169 - -
761 819 1,848 1,990 - -
4,504 4,657 4,863 5,082 - -
Less: total future interest expenses B ARHE RS g (153) (219 -
Present value of lease liabilties HEakRE 4,504 4,863 =
Note: Mzt

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 30 June 2019 has not been
restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in
Note 4.

AEEDRAKETEWEERERE BB
WEERFE165E - WAABRN-_FT—AFLA
—HEENER - NERELRES B
EUFEITHRABALEHENEHERBNEE
B -R-ZE-NAFRA=THOLRERL
EEY - ARBEEEBUBRELERE165
R E — DR BEN RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AT

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2020

24, LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amount included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for

B EHmRMEE(E)

BHE_Z-_TFXA=THILFE

24, HEEBEm)

HERSRLERE
FHEMSAGERERERNESTEN

leases comprise the following: ™
2020 2019
—E-%F PN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within operating cash flows KERSREN 89 3,422
Within financing cash flows REBRSREN 4,145 -
25. DEFERRED TAX 25, IEFERIE

(a) Deferred tax assets recognised (a) CRERELERIBEEE
Credit loss
allowance of
loan receivables
FEWE RRHY
FEBERE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019 R== /\Etﬂ A - —NEF =

and 1 July 2019 ANA=TAKZ hitﬂ =]

Credited to profit or loss (Note 10(a)) sTAB=S (AT 10(3)) 646
At 30 June 2020 RZZE_ZFA=+H 646

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$198,526,000 (2019: HK$170,051,000)
available for offset against future taxable profits.
asset was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil) since it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Except for tax loss of HK$1,846,000 (2019: HKS$nil) which will
expire in 2025, the remaining tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.

2@2 APAC Resources Limited gp

KERBRAF

(b) I R RVELB IR E E

RZBE-_ZTFA=1H K&£E
B AR E) A BLIEE 18 4)198,526,000
BIL(ZE—F : 170,051,000/
T ) P PR S R R FE R B s 7 o
AR EEAMB R EEERBHEE
BT KRR R A o] AR SHBER
RRERBUET] - =T ZFFS
A=+AKERE BRI E

RELEHRBEE(ZZ—NF ¢
=

No deferred tax

BT TE B 151,846,000/ T (=&

—hF  BEALIBR_F_0F
JEmIN - ELERTHIAE R AT &R M4
& o



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25, IE ZEBLIE ()

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 30 June 2020, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries in PRC amounted to
HK$14,275,000 (2019: HK$16,122,000). Deferred tax liability
has not been recognised for taxes that would be payable
on these unremitted earnings as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

26. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$317,000 (2019:
HK$312,000) represents contributions paid or payable to the
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the respective
schemes.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

27. OPERATING LEASES

At 30 June 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREBERFA

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
and items of equipment held under leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under
this approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 July
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases (see Note 4).
From 1 July 2019 onwards, future lease payments are recognised
as lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(f), and the details
regarding the Group’s future lease payments are disclosed in Note
24,

E-B-RFAASTALFE
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2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FiBT

3,124
1,990
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

28. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28. A T B H M B I AR R 3=
POSITION

2020 2019
—ECEF —FNF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
it FHET TFET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in an associate R—EEE AR ZIRE 22,716 22716
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIZEKE 5,383 5,383
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEU B A T8 1,206,683 1,039,902
1,234,782 1,068,001
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & WY fiTE A FIIE 1,310,754 979,711
Other receivables and E b pEUBR TR 864 697
prepayments TETRIE
Bank balances R1T4E 184,698 338,868
1,496,316 1,319,276
Total assets EEHAE 2,731,098 2,387,277
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BREREE
Capital and reserves B S
Share capital A& A 29(b) 1,218,894 1,218,894
Share premium and I m(E K& 29(a) 346,271 346,271
other reserves H bR
Accumulated profits ESpav 29(a) 928,777 756,454
2,493,942 2,321,619
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETER K 3,989 4,876
E b FEATBRFR
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS B 8 R B F AR 233,167 60,782
Total liabilities EBEEE 237,156 65,658
Total equity and liabilities REREEEE 2,731,098 2,387,277
Net current assets REBEEZRE 1,259,160 1,253,618
Total assets less total EELABEREERSE 2,493,942 2,321,619

liabilities



For the year ended 30 June 2020

29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
(other than share capital as disclosed in Note 29(b)) between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

At 1 July 2018 RZZE-N\F+A—H

Profit and total comprehensive FREM R
income for the year EEL Gy K
Shares issued under rights issue RIE A TR
Transaction cost attriouted HREIER DA

to rights issue
Dividends recognised as distribution #3245 K HI% 2

(Note 13) (H7:#13)
At 30 June 2019 and RZZ—NEF
1 July 2019 ANA=ZTAEEK
“Z-NFtA—H
Profit and total comprehensive FRHF R
income for the year FHWREE
Dividends recognised as distribution #3255 R R 2
(Note 13) (Hiz£13)
At 30 June 2020 RZZZZHF

~A=tH

Share
premium
IR RE
HK$'000
FET

172,082

40,630
(8,344)

2,326

206,694

206,694

E-B-RFAASTALFE

29, AR e

AEBEGAER SO FE
FREGHHRIANGAERE
R - ARAVER AR (T
29(0) 1% BB RV BXANER N R I 2 F
REVEBHBTHINOT

AT

Other Accumulated

reserves profits Total
Hitf#E ES | k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET
139,577 800,029 1,111,688
- 4,142 4,142

- - 40,630

- - (8,344)

- (47,717 (45,391)
139,577 756,454 1,102,725
- 294,213 294,213

- (121,890) (121,890)
139,577 928,777 1,275,048



For the year ended 30 June 2020

29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Authorised: EE

At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019, RZE—N\FtHA—H8"
1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020, —hEARA=+A8"
ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each —hEFtEtA—RBK

Issued and fully paid, ordinary
shares of HK$1.00 each

At 1 July 2018

Issue of shares in lieu of cash

dividend (Note 13) (B15£13)
Issue of shares under rights issue RIE AR TRY
(note) (H1az)
At 30 June 2019, 1 July 2019 and \fg NFENA=+H
30 June 2020 T-NFtA—BK
_Y_YEAH +H
Note: On 11 March 2019, the Company announced a fund raising proposal

—E-FTFRA=+H"

FIEET.00B T2
LB

ERITRAZE  BEREE
1.00/8 T2 LB
R-—ZE—NE+HA—H
BITRMURBHE SRS

comprising a rights issue on the basis of one new ordinary share of
the Company (“Rights Share”) for every two existing shares then
held at the subscription price of HK$1.10 per Rights Share (the
“Rights Issue”). On 25 April 2019, the Company completed the
Rights Issue and a total number of 406,297,971 Rights Shares were
issued for gross proceeds of HK$446,928,000 (net proceeds of
HK$438,584,000 after deduction of the direct costs in relation to the
Rights Issue).

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

HE-_Z—-F

FRA=TRHILFE

29. PR A et s )

Number
of shares Amount
gvil 24 &8
HK$’'000
FHIT
2,000,000,000 2,000,000
795,277,315 795,277
17,318,628 17,319
406,297,971 406,298
1,218,893,914 1,218,894

it R=

—WE=ZA+—8 AR
REMEEREZ  EREUNERS
%ﬁﬂﬁﬁxfﬁﬁﬂx DB — IR AR
AR AR ([HRRG ) BE
£ RREESRERRRGB1.10
PETCHEETTH AR ([RAR]) - EA:Z
—hNhEMA=+HB AR
AR I A $£406,297, 971Hx@i\ﬂx
B BT FTERIBERREA
446,928,000/ 7T (42 0Bk 81 4 i
RN BB AN BT S RIBFHE
73438,584,000/ 7T ) ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 29, IRA K @48 ()

(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of shares by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section 40
of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the sharing of
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity instruments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held by the
associates at the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(r).

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

30. SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 2019 are

as follows:

Name of company

DEER

Accardo Investments Limited

APAC Resources Asia Limited
SABREMERAR

APAC Resources Assets
Limited
BREREEARAT

APAC Resources Beiing
Limited
FRERILRERAR

APAC Resources Commodity
Trading Limited
SREREREHERLH

APAC Resources Investment
Holding Limited
SRERREERERAH

APAC Resources Investments
Limited
SARERREERAA

APAC Resources
Management Limited

TAERERERAR

APAC Resources Mining
Limited
TAERBEERAR

APAC Resources Shanghai
Limited
TAERLEERAR

APAC Resources Strategic
Holdings Limited
SRERRBERERAR

APAC Resources Treasury
Management Limited
SRERHEERERAA

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
TR/ B
ik

BYI
RERTES

Hong Kong

U

X

BVI
RBRLAE
Hong Kong
X

BVI
RBRUAS
BVI
RBRLMS
BVI
KERLES

Hong Kong

Ui

&k

BVI
KERAHS
Hong Kong
&k

BVI
KBRAHS
BVI

ABRLES

Particulars of
issued and
paid up capital
ERTR
BRBAFE

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEER

HK$1 ordinary
share
TR

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEER

HK$1 ordinary
share
TRk

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEER

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEER

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEER

HK$1 ordinary
share

BT E B

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETERR

HK$1 ordinary
share
1TETERR

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETERR

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETERR

As at 30 June 2020
Proportion of ownership interest
RZZ-BEXA=1H

BRBRERLA

Group’s
effective
interest
EEEZ
BRED

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Held

by the

Company

LN

BR

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Held

by
subsidiaries
HEAR
®E

.=

30. B A

TEAAZHAILES

RZE_FEFR_FT—NFNA=ZT
B AEENEZBHEARNT :

Group’s
effective
interest
KEE2

EfiEm

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

As at 30 June 2019
Proportion of ownership interest
RZB-NFRA=1H

HAEESILD

Held

by the

Company

YN

]

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Held

by
subsidiaries
N
B8

Principal activities

IRER

Principal investment
and financial services

FERERERRE

Resource investment

ERRE

Investment holding

REER

Principal investment
and financial services

FERERERRE

Resource investment

ERRE

Principal investment
and financial services

FERERERRE

Investment holding

RERR

Provision of
management
services

REEBRE

Investment holding

REER

Principal investment
and financial services

TERERERRE

Investment holding

REER

Principal investment

and financial services
FERER S RRH



For the year ended 30 June 2020

30. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of company

DALR

Asia Cheer Trading Limited
HEHERAF

Fortune Arm Limited

Fortune Desire Investments
Limited

Mount Sun Investments
Limited

ARREBRAA

Sino Chance Trading Limited

IEESHEBRLT

Ultra Effort Limited

BRER (BB) BRARA

It () #aHH
BRAT

*

PRC law.

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
FMRIL/ KL
e

Hong Kong
36

BVI
EBRAHS
BVI
EBRAHS
BVI
EBRAHS
Hong Kong
B3

BVI

REETHS

The PRC

FE

The PRC

FE

Particulars of
issued and
paid up capital
ERTR
BRBRAFE

HK$1 ordinary
share
BT RR

US$1 ordinary
share
1RTEBR

US$1 ordinary
share
1ETEBR

US$1 ordinary
share

IETEER

HK$1 ordinary
share
BT RR

US$1 ordinary
share

1ETEER

Registered
capital of
US$29,800,000
AMER
29,800,000%7T

Registered
capital of
US$3,600,000

AER
3,600,000% 7T

As at 30 June 2020

Proportion of ownership interest

R-ZB-BEAA=TA

Group’s
effective
interest
AEEZ
BRER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

BERERELA
Held Held
by the by
Company subsidiaries
NG| WEAR
58 o2}
100% -
- 100%
100% -
100% -
100% -
100% -
- 100%
100% -

This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the

The above list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
both years or at any time during both years.

T_TFRNA=THIFE

30. f B A B ()

As at 30 June 2019
Proportion of ownership interest

RZZE-hF A=+H
BERERRLY

Group’s Held Held
effective by the by
interest ~ Company  subsidiaries
KEEY YN =N
ERER ] #E
100% 100% =
100% = 100%
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% - 100%
100% 100% -

*

RRARERRAE

Principal activities

IREH

Investment holding
REER

Principal investment
and financial services

TERERSREH
Investment holding
RAZR

Investment holding
RAZR

Trading of commodities
HmES

Principal investment
and financial services

TERERSRRE

Trading of commodities

ELES]

Provision of
consultancy service
in corporate
management,
metallurgy
technology,
investment and
development in
mineral resources

RENAEE JnER
T RRE AR E R
EhEZE RS

UL B A AR BOARREM A B A

BhE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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31. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS M. EMTEZER
2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EHEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E M EKERR 31,086 24,836
Loan notes BERER 3,916 51,168
Loan receivables FEWE X 468,876 401,418
Pledged bank deposits EERIRITIFER 88,611 74,711
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB MRS 564,039 814,547
Financial assets at amortised cost TR SR ARSI BRI S R B B 1,156,528 1,366,680
Financial assets at FVTPL, AT ERERERRIE Y
mandatorily measured at FVTPL SREE - BHlltiR
N ERIBRIREEIE
— Listed equity securities —BEEEZ 629,058 392,102
held-for-trading TR AES
— Listed equity securities not held —WIEREEHEN 58,398 275,638
within the trading portfolios BEZ FIRAES
— Convertible notes — AR E R 9,690 10,873
— Derivative financial instruments: —{TESRMTA - 11,414 =
— Warrants — R R
— Unlisted equity investments —JE FTRAKRE 8,291 21,369
716,851 699,982
Trade receivables designated at FVTPL 3§FEZ A ENIERREE 2 6,273 -
B SRR
723,124 699,982
Financial liabilities sRIEE
Other payables E b BR SR 23,591 7,396
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,504 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1R B AT BRI SR B E 28,095 7,396
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRATFERERREE
TRIBE
Trade payables designated at FVTPL 8 FIZ A FENERRRIE 61,852 5,415

Annual Report 2020 &3 27 ]



For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and other
price risk. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, loan receivables,
other receivables, loan notes, convertible notes, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risks
associated with certain loan receivables is mitigated as they are
secured (Note 19).

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had concentration of credit risk
in respect of trade receivables of HK$6,273,000 (2019: HK$nil)
in to a customer. Taking into account the historical settlement
record of this customer, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group’s credit risk in respect of this trade
receivable was insignificant.

Except for trade receivables designated at FVTPL and
convertible notes measured at FVTPL, the Group performed
impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment are summarized as below.

(E_T_TFERNA=THIEFE
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 FX¥ERMBEERET@MIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) DNFE@

Financial assets at amortised costs

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies general
approach on loan receivables to assess for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9. To measure ECL of loan receivables, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its borrowers and they are
assessed individually by reference to their past default records,
their current past due exposure and an analysis of their current
financial position. The ECL rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
loan receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information
(for example, the current and forecasted global economy and
the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
borrowers operate) that is available without undue cost or effort.
Such forward-looking information is used by the management
of the Group to assess both the current conditions and the
forecasted direction at the reporting date.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The bank balances are placed in various authorised financial
institutions either with high credit ratings or good financial
background and the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk of such authorised financial institutions is low.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each debtor. As at 30 June
2020, the Group had concentration of credit risk on pledged
bank deposits of HK$61,771,000 (2019: HK$62,500,000) in a
bank in Hong Kong and on bank balances of HK$194,968,000
(2019: HK$120,729,000) in a bank in Hong Kong. In the
opinion of directors of the Company, the credit risks on pledged
bank deposits and bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Loan receivables

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had concentration of credit risk
in respect of certain loan receivables of HK$320,810,000 (2019:
HK$315,113,000) from two borrowers. The management of
the Group reviewed the public announcements and financial
information of the guarantors of these loans receivable, the
records of continuous settlements of interests and the value of
the underlying securities, if any, in order to assess their credit
quality. In this regards, the directors of the Company considered
the Group’s concentration of credit risk in respect of the certain
material loan receivables as at 30 June 2020 was significantly
reduced.

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss rates
of loan receivables based on historical credit loss experience of
the debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged by
the customers to the loan receivables. Based on assessment by
the directors of the Company, the amount of impairment made
and movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan
receivables during the year is as follows:

E-B-RFAASTALFE

RUBEBEEREMIAZ
D E@

Rl ER

RZEBE-ZTFA=1H " K&£E
REMBERAZE TREKERR
320,810,0008 7t (= &E — 4 :
315,113,000 T) FHEEEEF A
%o REFEEBEMBWERE
RANDHEAERBFBER - 78
HEEMNGCERARIBEESNE
BB AFHHEEERR - it
ME ' ANRARIESERE @ AEER
—E-EEA=tHEBPETE
AEWERNEEEFTRKBE KNG
PRI, -

ARREFREEBAZBEREE
EBERERANETEERKERME
MBI R 2 DFE - hETRKE
RZEFTBRE - REAQAESR
ZEHE - FRURIERT TR B MBI
ERZEBERBEBER2EZINT

12m ECL Lifetime ECL

Balance at 1 July 2018

Changes due to financial
instruments recognised
as at 1 July 2018:

— Impairment losses reversed
New financial assets originated

At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019

Changes due to financial
instruments recognised
as at 1 July 2019:

— Impairment losses recognised
— Impairment loss reversed
New financial assets originated

At 30 June 2020

R-Z—N\FLA—H
bl

R-_T—/\#+A—H
ERMIETAZ B8 :

- D EROREE R
MELZNEREE

R-ZE-NFRA=1+H

AZZFE—NFtA—H
R-F-—NF+H—H
RIS T A &

- BHERRIERE R
- DEROREE R
HMELZHEREE

—F-2FAA=1A

(not credit-
impaired) Total

2 HATE

FEEE

(REE (REgE

FERE) FERE) a%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T FAT
1,160 - 1,160
(771) - (771)
169 169
558 = 558
79 - 79
(169) - (169)
2,089 2,049 4,138
2,557 2,049 4,606



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 F¥ERKBEERET@MIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) NEE @)
Loan receivables (Continued) EWER @)

Changes in the loss allowance for loan receivables are mainly EWERZEEREEZHTER
due to: "

2020 2019

—ECERF “E-hE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
Increase/ lifetime ECL Increase/ lifetime ECL
(decrease) (note credit- (decrease) (note credit-
in 12m ECL impaired) in 12m ECL impaired)
2HRHBEE 2HRHBEE
12AES BEGREE 128588 BRCREE
FEER EERE) EEEE FERE)
#im/ (i) #h/ (L) #im/ (hd) #Eh/ (D)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT FAT FAT
Advance of new loan receivables HEWER 2 250 2,089 2,049 = =
Settlement in full of loan receivables B4 /5 EUE = = = (613) >
Other receivables H b FE U BR X

REMBKERLZEME @ A2
AEFREBEENGIE  BEL

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of

other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company believe that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on
12-month ECL. For the year ended 30 June 2020 and 2019,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Loan notes

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had concentration of credit risk in
respect of loan notes of HK$3,916,000 (2019: HK$51,168,000)
into one entity. The management of the Group reviewed the
public announcements and financial information of the guarantor
of these loan notes as well as subsequent settlements of
interests in order to assess their credit quality. In this regard, the
directors of the Company considered that the Group’s credit risk
in respect of these loan notes was significantly reduced.

BUARAEABKRENAEEES
MEMER - HEMBURR IR
S HY AT Ug O 14 38 1T IE HAE B R A -
RABIEBREBYIRERARZ
EHENEERBI EREEENE
ANEBIRE12E A EHEEFIA
BRERE BE_T-TER-F
—NERNA=THILEE  K~&EE
S E M U BE R MR S TE S
BEEYNEA - Fi I EERE
B -

HARF

3916000 T (=& — L&
51,168,000/ L) T EEEEF
% REEEEBEMZEERE
BRERANRRAE M EER
AR H 1R BEMS AT EEE
BEZ - BME » ARAREER
B AEBEEZSERZENE
BEBE KIEREIE o

E



For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises REEz A EERBRT AR EE
the following categories: FELAT R
Internal credit rating  Description Financial assets at amortised cost
R BB EFPAR A BRBHERATIRNERMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts
KR RSGHFHHNENRRRE - BYWEEAE 12@8EREEERE
HARIR
Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  12m ECL
usually settle in full
e BERAREREHAREN  BERFEEREE 12@AEREEEE
High risk There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external

sources
= E REABIINBRREGEINER - FEAR 2HEREEEE - RELEERE
B B RHER LA AR 1E AN
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired
g FRBERNEECHEEERE EHEMEEER -ERLEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

i BREBATNEBABABRENMBRMEE R FEZIEEME
EETRRAEYEEEFIE



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 FX¥ERMBEERET@MIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) DNFE@

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRV AEESREETENE
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: ERk  ZEemEEAETER
EEEE

2020 2019

Gross Gross

External Internal 12m ECL or carrying carrying

Notes  credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount

4N A 128 A2 “ECEf —TNE

it EEFR FEHR HHEEER EELE REZE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR THET

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHRSIRNERER
Loan receivables (note (i) 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit 379,136 210,515
FEMCE TR (Tt )) TiEA R impaired
and assessed
individually)
12EAEHEE
ERCREEGER
1B AT TIERIET L)
High risk Lifetime ECL (not 94,346 191,461
=Rk credit impaired
and assessed
individually)
2HRBEE
BR(RBEEER
1B BT ERIERE)
Loan notes 20 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit 3,916 51,168
ERER TEf KRR impaired
and assessed
individually)
12[BRBHEE
BE(REEEER

{ERAETERIFE)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL A MEHRARNTE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 F¥RMEERET@MIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) DNFE@

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERMR @)

2020 2019

Gross Gross

External Internal 12m ECL or carrying carrying

Notes  credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
o A 128528 ZBCERF —ET-NF

it EEFR REIR BHEERE EEAE REEE
HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT TAET

Other receivables and deposits 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit 31,086 24,836
(note (i) NER R impaired
Hib USRS IR S (HaH) and assessed
individually)
12HRBHEE
BR(RELEEER
1B REFTERIERE)

Pledged bank deposits 22 Al N/A 12m ECL (not credit 88,611 74,711
BHEFRITIER N impaired
and assessed
individually)
12ERBHEE
BR(REEEER
ST TIERIFTAE)

Bank balances 22 Baalto Aat  N/A 12m ECL (not credit 564,001 814,487
BITHREH BaalZAal 1@ impaired
and assessed
individually)
128 AEHEE
BE(REEEER
1B AT TIERIETAE)

1,161,096 1,367,178

QW 8 APAC Resources Limited 25 K &R B[R A A



For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

() At 30 June 2019, no loss allowance has been recognised for the loan
receivables falling into high risk category in the internal credit rating
because the carrying amount of this loan receivables can be recovered
by realisation of the underlying security.

(i)  For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has been increased
significantly since initial recognition.

2020

—%-%F
Not past

due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms
Fag/

BH SETELE
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THET TR

Other receivables and deposits ~ Et EUEEST |2 - 31,086
i

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

RNEVERBREERSEMIAZ
DB )

Total
@it
HK$' 000
T#x

31,086

U

(i)

R-ZZE-NFRXA=+H " HEH®
AEEEFRTBERERERRRM
EWEREREERE  RAEZ
ERERNERENEBZEREH
iR T LAkE o

HRAREERRERENS @ ~A5E
RABHEHUFEEERRE
IRMERIR RBHRREIE ©

2019
3
Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
Ao,/
Bl EETENES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
THL T THL

= 24,836 24,836



For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

E-B-RFAASTALFE

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible

for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

For trade payables under provisional pricing arrangements
and are designated at FVTPL, the amount is derived from the
estimated future cash payments with reference to the Platts Iron

Ore Index Price at the end of the reporting periods.

Within
1 year or
on demand
—£R
FRER
HK$'000
TER
Non-derivative financial liabilties HTERHER
Other payables G ANES 23,591
Lease liabiltties (note) MEaBEWZ) 3,838
27,429
Trade payables designated at FVTPL  #EEiR AFER BR KR 61,852
B2 E SRR

89,281

More than
1 year but
less than
2years

—FH0E
{ERmELAR
HK$'000
&R

707

707

707

RUBEBEEREMIAZ
D E@

il

AEERENELERAERE S
ReEBEH  RREASAEMKZE
HRENESEFENBERREHE
Ko HAFGEARESRSH A A
1FE - AEEZBRBEMERE
MEBESHFNR - UHEREERTR
Refl  NWENREBRZRBE

k

TRINEAKREZTEERAR
RBERRZBFTEOMR - X
RAHMNARBRASRE(BERE
MR HEFE - RIRBRES
RE M EAE 2 M B KA
SEATINZ&EFAH -

IAREEELHZE S ENFA
s ARSBNELENRES
RZ mEAARRAEMERAEZ
AKRE MR EF/L -

2020
It Sk 22

More than Total Carrying
2 years but contractual amount at
lessthan  undiscounted 30 June
5years cash flows 2020
R-B-%%
MELLE FBEH AA=1H
BRFUR REREAE HREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TARL TARL
- 23,591 23,591
112 4,657 4,504
112 28,248 28,095
- 61,852 61,852
112 90,100 89,947



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AV HRERNTE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_ZT-_TFA=+HILFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 i EREENREMTIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) DNFE@

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REVE & =E B (@)
2019
ik
More than More than Total Carrying
Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual amount at
1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted 30 June
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows 2019
RZZ-NE
—£R —FHE MENE FTREH ~NAZTH
HEER BRENA BRENR  BEREEE HEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TBr THL T THT
Non-derivative financial liabilties HEERER
Other payables E iR 7,39 - - 7,39 7,39
Trade payables designated at FVTPL  #E A TENMERER
B2 E5RENEN 5415 - - 5415 5,415
12,811 - - 12,811 12,811
Note: Hist -
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective AEBERARIETRPEERERER
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise WIS ELERIE165: - WHBR=_Z—N,
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating FHA—BRENELR - ARRELRR
leases under HKAS 17, and capitalised amounts relating to new leases entered BEBSTEAEITROBAKERER
into during the year. Under this approach, the comparative information is not HERENHEEBEREFAFTLHE
restated. See Note 4. B2 ERENIE - RIEFE - LBRER

AT EZ - RHIFE4 -

Annual Report 2020 5 3R ZQW



For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances
as at 30 June 2020 and 2019. The Group is exposed to fair
value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loan receivables,
convertible notes, loan notes and lease liabilities as at 30 June
2020 and 2019. The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. The directors of the Company monitor the
interest rate exposure and will consider necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

No interest rate sensitivity analysis is disclosed, as in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the interest rate sensitivity
does not give additional value in view of insignificant exposure of
interest bearing pledged bank deposits and bank balances as at
the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases and provision of loan financing which
give rise to receivables, payables and bank balances that
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily Renminbi (‘RMB”), United States dollars
(“US$”), Australian dollars (“A$”), Canadian dollars (“CAD”)
and British Pound (“GBP”). The Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

MEERESRITANIFEIR
IR & i 8 S B T35 ) R B R
R °

RZE_ZEFR-_FT—LEXA
=1+8  AEEMAXZBESRE
R ST B R E AR T
RRIRITEBBER R =TF
=—FB—hFXA=+H £&&EE
REBRKER IREE &
REEMEES EAEERAFEF X
[RRR o A5 B E A AR BEER (A 1) &
HEREGR o ANA R E B EIEF R E,
Sokot - WA A TR IR B A FI =
[ Be2 e 2 e L A R HE B ©

HRARRESEAR  RBEHMR
ZETBEEBMIRITERMIRITAER
RN - MERGRE NS W RE
SMEME - AW BB RHREE D
1 o

AEERESRABEMASZZFEE
BRAMERBE SRR EE &
wht o

(i) FPHEm B

AR B B SN L e T R
BIAINE(BIBEBR 50 E&E
BIIEE E M IAIN 2 EH ) FHE
BHE RRBRIREERRE
FTELMRUKIRR - BNER
RRIRITHERR - EEZER
ZEBTER/RARB(TAR
D =x(UxEx]) BT
(M&sc)) -~ el inie ) &5
F(HE]) - AEEERES
AW i LABDHAPE = B A\ 3
EINE ARG AR EIE N -
P AR R S AR RIS AT R
RZIKFE o



For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued)
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised monetary financial assets and monetary financial
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong
Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end

date.
Us$
EY
HK$’000
TET
Other receivables and Hip U &
rental deposits MEERS 2,196
Loan receivables [EWE T =
Loan notes EnZE 3,916
Bank balances ﬁﬁmu 33 21,893
Other payables HiENERER -
Net exposure arising from ERREERAE
recognised assets and liabiliies 4 7 [Elfe %48 28,005
Us$
e
HK$'000
TET
Other receivables and E R K
rental deposits HE%Re 77
Loan receivables EWER -
Loan notes ERZE 51,168
Bank balances RITEH 7,684
Other payables HAb TR =
Net exposure arising from BRREERERE

recognised assets and liabilities ~ E4 7 BT 58,929

BE—

“EFEANAZTHLESE

RNEVERBREERSEMIAZ
N E ()

(i)

RMB

AR®
HK$'000
TRR

320,810

786

321,596

RVB
N
HK§'000
TAT

8,775
123,652

812

133,239

e HE )

TR AEERRE KA
ERREKCREEREES
REE(NEERAGBHEBE
BE 1)) 4 15 M5 DA SN S HESHE ) T
ELHEBAR < H25H
 HERRS AT
B FREE Y A MENEE
T}rﬁg_o

~|I mi

*

2020
“ECEF
A$ CAD GBP
B mrx B
HK$000 HK$000  HK$°000
T FHET TR

5,735 3,688 678

225,995 55,319 21,056
(1,091) (7,435) -

230,639 51,572 21,734

2019
—E-NE
A$ CAD GBP
BT i it

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT  TAT  TARL

1,792 408 350
55,267 = =
229,115 35,171 7,011

286,174 35,579 7,361



For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

(i) BREDH

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s loss/profit after tax (and accumulated profits)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed

TRETASERBIZER,
i A (e Ratism ) B A Bl P
AR BARERAOERDNBE
HIREE (REMAEEMBER

Y HR ) MANE LR
B - pUtmE - RRETE

that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the ET 7 EMRERTERAIZE
United States dollar would be materially unaffected by any ﬂﬁﬁgiﬁﬁgquﬁgz{g@
changes in movement in value of the United States dollar (A o
against other currencies.
2020 2019
t St 222 —E-NEF
Increase/ Decrease/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (increase) (decrease) (decrease)
in foreign in loss in foreign in profit
exchange after exchange after
rate income tax rate  income tax
BRETIG L& BRET1S B
Exigi, BERD S EXENS aAEmS
(RA) (3&1n) ORiA) CR)
% HK$’ 000 % HK$ 000
FET THET
RMB AR 10 32,160 10 13,324
(10) (32,160) (10) (13,324)
A% SBIT 10 23,064 10 28,617
(10) (23,064) (10) (28,617)
CAD i 10 5,157 10 3,558
(10) (5,157) (10) (3,558)
GBP HgE 10 2,173 10 736
(10) (2,173) (10) (736)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
monetary financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2019.

EXRmEDOMERERZIE
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%% FTE/
SEER %ﬁémﬂi%ﬁ
&% ?&%%Xﬁﬁ[
BRBTTAERG R E

BRE DN IRRINEE R EF)
DREAREFTEREENR
%%Xﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ%f%i
BmITA- M&Af7 heE
R EERETT o
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 FX¥ERMBEERET@MIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) A E@

The Group is engaged in equity securities trading and
investments which are denominated in foreign currencies
and is therefore exposed to foreign currency price risk. 69%
(2019: 78%) of the Group’s equity investments, including listed
securities held-for-trading, listed securities not held within the
trading portfolios and unlisted equity investments, and derivative
financial instruments are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated equity investments and derivative financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period are set out as
follows:

us$ ET
A$ SBRIT
Pound Sterling S

CAD =y

AEBRERATFEERKRE
HEBREWENDING - HILAEA
ZINEERER o ARE69% (=
T—NF : 78%) ZBARE (B
REEELMRES « YHREEM
BRFAZ EMESNMIEEMRA
BRERTESRMIA) 2 EBEN
WIFKEERZINEES -

RImERR - AEBEINEHEZ
BRAKRERITE SR T A ZREE
o

2020 2019
—z-%F —TnE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
17,052 29,156
359,920 362,776
11,092 23,569
98,081 121,702



For the year ended 30 June 2020 ECEEFEATHIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2019:
10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against foreign currencies
and all other variables are held constant. US$ is not included
in sensitivity analysis, as HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the US$/HK$
exchange rate. 10% (2019: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used by
the management in the assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2019: increase in post-
tax profit) for the year where foreign currencies strengthen 10%
(2019: 10%) against HKS. For a 10% (2019: 10%) weakening
of foreign currencies against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax loss (2019: post-tax profit) for
the year.

Decrease in post-tax loss FEBRBEERRD
(2019: increase in post-tax profit) (ZZE—NF : BEiE
for the year s AEE hn)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments, including listed securities held-for-trading, unlisted
equity investments and listed securities not held within the
trading portfolios. The management of the Group manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles.

BRED

TR A E B EE TN INE B
AR THI0%(—T—H4E
10%) 2 BRE - MEMATEEE
HIENE o BT ARG AMBRRE
DT EBITEETTES - AKE
BHETLHAELZEZRSLGEE
fAIEREE - 10%(ZF—NF :
10%) TV EBRETHINEER S
AR B ATE A 2 BURELLE o
T A IESRR RINE BB T HE10%
(:;—71¢ C10%) R FEERT
BEBEE(ZZE—NF BB
iEJJD)E@/WPBao HINE S B TE A
10%(ZZ—N4F : 10%) » BleH
EFERBEEER(CZ—HLE B
T n ) EREEARTE -

2020 2019
—z-2F —TnE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FETT
46,909 50,804

AEBRERE(BRFBEEEL
EWRES - JF EHBRANIRE RIIF
FEEBEMEA 2 EWES) AR
RERR AEEEEREEBHE
R\ & m ISR TR KEAS
EEAERR
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 FX¥ERMBEERET@MIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) YNSSETT )
Sensitivity analysis BREDN

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the listed equity securities exposure to price risk at the end of
the reporting period. If equity price (in the relevant currencies in
which the investments are denominated) had been 30% higher/
lower (2019: 30% higher/lower) and all other variables are held
constant, post-tax loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 would
decrease/increase by HK$206,237,000 (2019: post-tax profit
would increase/decrease by HK$200,322,000). This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of listed securities held-for-
trading and listed securities not held within the trading portfolios.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the unlisted equity investments at FVTPL exposure to price risk
at the end of the reporting period. If equity price (in the relevant
currencies in which the investments are denominated) had
been 30% higher/lower (2019: 30% higher/lower) and all other
variables are held constant:

e post-tax loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 would
decrease/increase by HK$2,487,000 (2019: post-tax profit
would increase/decrease by HK$6,411,000) as a result of
changes in fair value of unlisted equity investments at FVTPL
of HK$8,291,000 (2019: HK$21,369,000).

A TEREE DT IR REHAR LT
BARFEH 2 BREKRETE © BREK
RNEE(AZEREZABEER
BEHE) EF L TFR30% (= —A,
F 0 BFREE30%) AT A A
BERETE HE_Z _TFEX
BZ=1 B FE 2B E & BB
A /18 41206,237,000% T (= &
—NEF  BEEEFEE MR
200,322,000/87T) © E+ ZHHFE
BEZ LMBEAFERTIIERETAE
REBEZ ETES 2 AFEEEM
3 K

AT U E D TR S AR IZ A
FERERREIE 2 IE FHARARK
B2 EBRRRETE o RERAER
(AZFI B 2 BEsTEEEE)
s,/ RE30%(ZFE—HF : F+
2,/ T F£30%) i Ff A H b B E 1%

e HRNEAFEREREER
ZIHELETRAKEZ ATFE
8,291,000 (=& —F :
ms&ow%nﬂﬁim@
HE TFEXAZFTALE
EEZ%m&ﬁE%M//
#n2,487,0008 L (ZZF— N,
F o BREEEF AN, R
6,411,000 7T )
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its convertible
notes at FVTPL, which were issued by the Private Entity I, and
derivative financial instruments (the warrants) at the end of the
reporting period with changes in fair value to be recognized in
the profit or loss. The fair value adjustment of these financial
instruments would be affected positively or negatively, among
others, by changes in equity price of the issuers.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 30 June 2020, if the equity price of the unlisted convertible
notes at FVTPL and the underlying equity securities of the
warrants had been 30% (2019: 30%) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the fair values of the unlisted
convertible notes at FVTPL and the warrants will increase/
decrease and the Group’s post-tax loss would decrease/
increase by HK$6,331,000 (2019: the Group’s post-tax profit
would increase/decrease by HK$3,261,000).

Commodity price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk as the
Group’s sales and purchases are subject to provisional pricing
arrangements, predominantly iron ores prices. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

RBREPR  AEREREZAFE
RIBRRERIENFLAER -
WA ERERTES BT AR
PrgsE) mm R EmERRR - A
AR THEZSNEENER - %%
SRITANQFEFABAERE
hEE)ETARMKERENES)
MXP|EHMskBEFZE -

BRED

5\—7—7ﬁ5/\ﬂ +8 - KRR

N ERERERERNIE Tk
[& = MR RERE AR IR AN B 5
R ABIE EFH, T BE30% (=
—NF : 30%) MET A EmE SR
BFAE - B AFERNERREE
E’J#tm—f%ﬁﬂxﬂf&ﬁﬂxf“ﬂ

NFERE I, 5D M AN E B &
i 1% &5 18 A% % 2> 18 h06,331,000
BLT(ZE T AEEBM
1% 555 F 5 385 08k 4> 3,261,000
JT) °

7 R E AR LR

AEETAZEMERRR - ER
AEBRRGREELHELES
(FBRALHE) - AKEERE
Rl B ARSI B ERR - IR A%
R E BEIPER o

AHEER AR AR AR BN
BETASBAERSBARZA
i -



For the year ended 30 June 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial instruments are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at Fair value as at
Financial instruments 30 June 2020 30 June 2019
EA 7—?$/\H +E E‘\Q:g—ﬂﬁ/\_\ﬁz‘fﬁ
¢RIE ZAYE ZAYHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T
(1) Listed equity securities 629,058 392,102
held-for-trading
BIEEE, FTRAES
() Convertible notes
TRHEE
- Issued by the Private Entity | 9,690 10,873
-ERAEE-%T
(8)  Equity securities not held
within the trading portfolios
WHREERERRE L
krES
- Unlisted equity securities 7,067 21,216
3 LTRAES

BE—

“EFEANAZTHLESE

R.WHEBREEREHIAL

YNSRERT )
URFEEERAFEFTEZ
TEBSHEERSHERS
ZAVE

Fair value
hierarchy
A¥fE
E&

Level 1

F—&

Level 3
=R

Level 3
F=H

$%Z%ﬁfﬁ$%ﬂﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%
BEEBEPRBRAFETE - T
i%%kﬁlJF%EAZZDﬂ#EEZ TRTA
ZAFENER (R 52 ERA
HERM LB ARE) -

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
HERTR
BERARE

Quoted bid prices in active markets

WRBTMEAENEAR

Binomial model with an expected volatility of
20% (2019: 19%) (note (i)

TEAER R EERERA20%
(ZZ-NE 19%) (a2 i)

Discounted cash flow and a discount rate of
27.9% (2019: 33.7%) for business valuation
(note ()

HREBGE  FRFRRERE  BREA
27.9%(ZF— N : 33.7%) (#7it )

Black Scholes Option Pricing model and an
expected volatiity of 20% (2019:19%) for
equity allocation

;TWE/_\”HE REMRE—SREET
BERE - BHREBER0B(ZE-NE!
19%)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and DEREREERNFEFERZ
financial liabilities that are measured at fair rEEEREERSRERS
value on a recurring basis (Continued) ZAFE @)
Fair value as at Fair value as at Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s)
Financial instruments 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 hierarchy  and key input(s)
. R-Z-BFEXA=TR RZZ-AFAB=TH 4AYE RERHR
$RIA ZDVHE ZAVE B BREARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL
- Unlisted equity securities 1,224 153 Level 3 Price to book multiples with reference to the
-~ EmRAES =1 market price of companies comparable to the

investee and the investee’s net asset value
and a discount rate of 13% (2019: 47%)
(note ()

RRERMCRZTENBEREARTER
BIRE DA EEFARMBEMN13%
(ZZ—NF  47%) ()

- Listed equity securities 58,398 275,638 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets
- FRAES o RNEBTSAENEAE

(4)  Derivative financial 11,414 N/A Level 2 Black Scholes Model with references to the
instruments - Warrants TEH E-H quoted prices in active markets and volatiity
TSI A - RRiEE of underlying shares \

FRARR—ARARLY 2 E BT S RE
HEBRHRIE

(6) Trade receivables designated 6,273 N/A Level 2 Derived from quoted prices in active markets
at FVTPL TNaf F=H after considering credit risk of the assets
RERATERERRRE L REREEERE FERREL
B AR BREMSRE

(6) Trade payables designated 61,852 5,415 Level 2 Derived from quoted prices in active markets
at FVTPL £-H after considering credit risk of the liabilities
RERATERRRRRE RERERAEZFERREKZ
UL BEMHRE

Notes: Mt -

(i)  The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount rate. () DFEFEEMRRKRRLEE -

(i) The fair value measurement is positive correlated to the volatility. (i) AFEFEEREKIELRE o

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during both RREFEAN - B—H B=RR

A’h’:i Nz E ﬁ o
years. E = A R
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

RNEVERBREERSEMIAZ
DB )

ERMEEZE=RAFER

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

of financial assets EZHER
Unlisted
Convertible equity
notes securities
at FVTPL at FVTPL Total
BATE BRATE
BBz BEZ¥E
ERREE LEHRAES &ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHATT FAET T
At 1 July 2018 RZE—-N\FtH—H 116,249 38,593 154,842
Redemption e (100,000) - (100,000)
Interest income (Notes 6 and 8)  F| B A (B1726428) 2,348 = 2,348
Interest received EFE (6,725) - (6,725)
Disposal HE - (3,732 (3,732)
Loss arising from changes RiE=ER 2 AFE (999) (13,492) (14,491)
in fair value recognised HEEL
in profit or loss (Note 7) EsE(MFE7)
At 30 June 2019 and RZZE—hFA=+H 10,873 21,369 32,242
1 July 2019 R=ZF—NF+H—H
Interest income (Note 8) FBUW A (HT228) 1,100 = 1,100
Addition NE = 1,361 1,361
Loss arising from changes RiERER 2 A E (2,283) (14,439) (16,722)
in fair value recognised BEELL
in profit or loss (Note 7) B8 (Hit7)
At 30 June 2020 RZZE-ZFXA=+H 9,690 8,291 17,981



For the year ended 30 June 2020 (EZE T AA=THIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 Bi¥RKMEERSMIAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) DFE@)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
of financial assets (Continued)

The unrealised loss during the year ended 30 June 2020 relating
to financial assets that are held at the end of the reporting period
which are measured at fair value and are in level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy is HK$16,722,000 (2019: HK$16,090,000). Such
fair value loss is included in “other gains and losses” line item in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at other than fair
value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost using the discounted cash flows analysis and considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

The chief financial officer of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market
observable data to the extent it is available. Where level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The chief financial officer of
the Company works closely with these valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of various assets are disclosed above.

EMEEZE=HRDAFE
BEZHR@m)

HE-_Z-_ZFA=1+AHLF
B RBERRFERATETE
BEBRE=RATFEEBRAZSHME
ERFEREAR IR E518 516,722,000
Bt (ZZF—NF : 16,090,000/5
J0) °c AT EEEF AZEKAE
HRIEMREE R EE]—E -

W FFEXFEIIRZAEH
TREEREMABEZATF
=]

AEEEREEGEFTENMRRSR
ENMRBHKATAEZEREE
kEBMBEZAYE  ARBKEE
BTSRRI B SHAX AN R 8% 2 &
MEEMERABZEMERER
HERE ©

DNPEFERMGERRE

ARRRIERMGEARR A FER
EETEE NG ERMNRE AR
e

RiGFt—HEEN A TFER - A%
BERA A ST S A SRR -
F—RBABBETAR - AKEZR
BE=FAERMGEMETHE -
ARRERMBE B EHEME
DB EARME R Z I EE A ER
1l M B ABUR -

BRET S REERHEMRRARG
BRI N 8 ABURR BRI _ £

=



For the year ended 30 June 2020

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year and balances with related parties at the end
of the reporting period:

Purchase of commodities EEEG
Trade payables designated EERAFERERRE
at FVTPL (Note 23) 5RI8 2 B 5 EE
(Hiat23)
Other receivables (Note 21) Hihpe Uk BRI (H7E21)

The Group entered into several commodity contracts with MGX
to purchase certain quantities of iron ores from MGX for which
the prices were based on the respective lump and fines Platts
Iron Ore Price. The Group is required to take physical delivery
of the iron ores from MGX in accordance with terms of the
commaodity contracts.

The trade payables due to subsidiaries of MGX is unsecured,
interest free and repayable in cash within 90 days of invoices.

The other receivables due from subsidiaries of MGX is
unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and will be
settled in cash. No provision for doubt debts for the other
receivables was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2020
(2019: HKS nil).

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

B EXRFEBE RS

FRAB B R E A D Pl 2 X 5

AN

AEBRERNERB ST EATRS

RS BIR G DL TSR 2 4

2020 2019
—g-%r —T-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
Tt T
398,350 108,738
61,852 5,415
4,769 1,326

AEBEEMCXFIZE THEMA K
ATAMGXE E —E B E M EH B
A RERDRERENMNES B
MEXHBEAEMET - REESR
BRER - AEBEBEBEMGXEY)
RUEIEA o

J& 1< MGX T 8 22 A1 89 B 5 FE 1+ Bk
RIYEER - B MARERMNO
HAMNAREX

FE UL MGX E. {th Y /8 X B0 & 55 &
YRR KT BN - B RARER
DREEN - RBE_T-_TFX
A=1HILL%E - SiEpHEBREK
RRERARERE (T —NF
THET) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2020

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

284 APAC Resources Limited g8

e P BHmRE(E)

BHE_Z-_TFXA=THILFE

B.EREESIRZ @)

RKERERAE

(b) Transactions and balances with Allied (b) EEEESHE(FE)BRAT
Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”) and Allied (FH, EHEREKEESERSE
Group Limited (“AGL”), the holding company of EN ﬁ ([ B ./:.\;,‘EJ B S
APL, both are substantial shareholders of the WEZERAR)(MEHA
Company exercising significant influence over AR EERR » ATHAERQ
the Company: AITHEEAFEN)Z2RS

R&EeR -
2020 2019
—ERIERF E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Reimbursement to AGL the actual IRIEFERETT BRI B 1R AR 2,078 1,952
costs incurred in respect of o wHasE
administrative services and a SREEREMETHIE
portion of actual costs incurred B AASEREHITHRARS
in respect of management, FREH 2 B RIRH
consultancy, strategic, internal EIE - B - R AE
audit, management information B2z - BREARSEER
system consultancy and business R EBEBIRIGELZ
advice services provided by senior BB A MEGS EE
management and selected staff of TERER -
AGL to the Group in accordance
with the relevant sharing of
administrative services and
management services agreements:
Reimbursement to APL a portion of  RIE/EEE IR Hﬁﬁ%ﬁ\%% 164 355
actual costs incurred in respect of 2 B AEZENE
management services provided BEMETRREBAAE
by senior management and B EIR R TESE 2
selected staff of APL to the Group BB AR MBS thE
in accordance with the relevant TERER
sharing of management services
agreement:
Rental and building management ENBAEEEES K 1,609 1,116
expenses payable to AGL (note (i) EFERE(W20))
Amount due to AGL FEfTEE & SR B 58 725 510
(included in other payables) (FFAE A EERRD
(note (ii)) (HTaE (i)
Future minimum lease payments ENBAEERARKERE
payable to AGL (note (i) 1‘JL R(BEE)
— within one year —FE AR 1,207 1,609
— after one year but not more than ——FRETBRRAT = 1,207
five years
1,207 2,816
Present value of lease liabilities EREEEEHERE
payable to AGL (note (i)) WEWTZ0)
— within one year ——FLR 1,182 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances with Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”) and Allied
Group Limited (“AGL”), the holding company of
APL, both are substantial shareholders of the
Company exercising significant influence over
the Company: (Continued)

Notes:

0

(i

The Group entered into a two-year lease in respect of a leasehold
property from AGL for use as office. The amount of rent payable by
the Group under the lease is approximately HK$134,000 per month.
With the initial application of HKFRS 16 on 1 July 2019, the Group
recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$2,702,000.
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach, and the comparative information is not restated
under this approach.

At 30 June 2020, the total future minimum lease payments and present
value of lease liabilities in respect of the leased property payable to
AGL, which is included in lease liabilities as set out in Note 24 (2019:
operating lease commitments as set out in Note 27), are disclosed
above.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the lease rentals and building
management expenses paid or payable to AGL is HK$1,609,000 (2019:
HK$1,116,000) as disclosed above.

The amount due to AGL is unsecured, interest free and repayable in
cash on a monthly cost basis.

e P EmRE(E)

BE_ZT-_ZF A=1THILFE

B.EREESIRZ @)

(b) R SHhE (FB)ERAR
((HEeHE ) REEEES
RAR(HEER| BE
WEZERAR) (MEHDA
AKRATREERER  THARA
ATHEEAREN)ZRS
R&EeR
Wiz :

() AEEREAEAEERRHEENE
EANHAE  STVUMEMRL o K
SERBEHANESNESES AL
134,000/87C « RZE—HE+A—
BEXERASBHEREERFE16
R AEERAGEAEEERE
E 812,702,000 70 - NEBEEHF
BEETBEaRERBANE
HREERE6H - R FA - &
BRI TFED

RZZE-ZFXA=1+H BEE
MERNEASENRRRERE
HeERkEEaERE  sEAR
Feas|HMEERE( =T —NF
HiREerd Muy L E R EASE) - UE
R EXCHREE -

REBEZE-_Z-_ZTFA=1+ALEF
B ENSEMTHASENHEE
HeREFEEE 1,609,000/ 7T
(ZZ— % 1,116,000 T) ' B
R ESEEE -

(i) RENBHAEENFEARER 2
ERARGABMEENRSHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Transactions and balances with Best
Advantage, an associate of APL:

= AL
AN

B EHmRMEE(E)

BHE_Z-_TFXA=THILFE

B.EREESIRZ @)

(c) E2

Bt E 2 B & N 5]Best
AdvantageZﬁc% R&EeR -

2020 2019

—ECERFE —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FiBT

Interest income from loan receivable  FEULE 2 > FI| B UL A 10,692 =
Loan receivable (Note 19) FEWE R (HHaE19) 197,764 =

On 23 May 2019, the Group entered into a revolving loan
agreement with Best Advantage to make a revolving loan in
the amount not exceeding HK$235,000,000 available to Best
Advantage. Details of this revolving loan agreement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2019.
This transaction is a continuing connected transaction and is
approved by shareholders of the Company in the special general
meeting held on 9 July 2019.

At 30 June 2020, an expected credit loss of HK$221,000 (2019:
nil) was recognised for the outstanding loan receivable due from
Best Advantage.

(d) Transactions and balances with SHK BVI, an
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of APL.:

(d) E2

RZZE—NAFRAZ+=H K
& [#| fABest Advantage:] B &
% 0 bAMBest Advantagetz fit
Tﬁiﬂ235 000,000 TR B IR E

 BAZBRERIBENIER
EAZIK/D\ AAMAZZ—NFHA
ZTTZHZRE c RBERIHREE
MERS R _ZT—NFEAR
HRITHRRERAREG FEARA
AR ALAE ©

R-ZE-ZTFA=1H " mEK
Best Advantage®) kBB E
BHA{E B E518221,00008 L (=&
—NF:F)-

BethEMZEIETERS
ZBﬁ%"‘JSHK BVIZR 5
Rateh -

2020 2019
—ECERE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHBT

Interest income from loan notes BEREEZFBIRA
(Notes 6(a) and 8) (H1:#6(2))28) 1,010 2,401
Loan notes (Note 20) BEREE(MH20) 3,916 51,168

286 APAC Resources Limited 55 K& R AR A



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_FT-TFA=THIEFE

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. E XK I RXZ @)

(Continued)

Finance costs BhE RN

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group obtained
new other borrowings of HK$62,000,000 from AP Finance
Limited, and the Group repaid the entire loan of HK$62,000,000
during the year ended 30 June 2019. The other borrowing
carried variable interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum and was
unsecured.

The remuneration of key management who are directors of the
Company and members of the senior management of the Group
during the year, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 11 is set out as follows:

Short-term employee benefits EEEEET
Post-employment benefits BERR 122 A

The remuneration of key management is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the position,
experience, qualification and performance of the individuals and
market trends.

Certain key management personnel of the Group received
remuneration from AGL and APL which provided management
services to the Group and charged the Group a fee for services
provided by these personnel. Details of the management
services and the related expenses are set out in Note 33(b) and
such key management personnel related expenses are included
in the amounts disclosed above.

2020 2019
—EF-%F —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THT

- 1,174

RBE-_ZE—hEA=1tHIE
E - A% B4 AP Finance Limited
EY 18 62,000,000 7% 7T &) ¥ 12 H th
BE  RASEREBEE_Z—NF
NAZTHLEFEREEZIER
62,000,000/ 7T » M EEZES
$R1T R EIF B IN3% B ¥ B) 4 Fl &
B N AEIEIE o

TZEBAB(RARREERA
SESREREKRE)NFAZH
M RBEMME I AREZE A
RAEFEFR)FHIIWMT -

2020 2019
—E-ERF .
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THAT
8,479 10,169

158 152

8,637 10,321

TREEABZHMORFMES
SREBERMALZBA - K5 -
BERKRBARTGBIEE

AEBETRTIZEEABRAAN
SERHE IR IR 2 B 5 B e
B EWEETEY - mEE S & E K
BHEMZEFABREM ZRIEFAA
SEWEIER - BREEEIRS MR
BARA > 2 I BN 330 B
T2 EEABMRBMAGIALX
P EE SRS -
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33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. EXEEAI R Z @)

(Continued)

Included in the key management personnel of the Group are REFBFEZEBABBE=R2(Z
three (2019: three) senior management personnel of which Z-NF : =ZR2)5HEBASE -
two (2019: two) are also directors of the Company. An analysis EPMEL(ZZE—LTF : MRB)IE
of remuneration paid and payable to the senior management RARES - FRNENTRENRE
personnel of the Group during the year is set out as follows: ESRERABZHEMITAT
2020 2019

gt 222 “E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Short-term employee benefits 45 HAE B 1&F 6,538 8,387
Post-employment benefits BERL B R T 151 145
6,689 8,532

The emoluments were within the following bands: MENFATEE :

2020 2019

gt 222 —E-NF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %£1,000,0004 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 122,000,000/ 7T 1 -

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7% 7t£5,000,000/% 7T 1 a

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7T - 1



For the year ended 30 June 2020

34, EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

M

(i)

On 27 July 2020, the Group as the lender entered into a facility
agreement with Metals X Limited (“MLX”) as the borrower and
certain subsidiaries of MLX as guarantors. Pursuant to the facility
agreement, the Group agreed to, among other things, make
available to MLX the loan in the amount up to A$26,000,000,
which will be matured on 31 January 2021.

MLX is a company incorporated in Australia with limited liability
and the shares of which are listed on the ASX. On 27 July 2020,
the Group held approximately 15.31% of the issued share
capital of MLX.

The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic continues after the end
of the reporting period and may impact the Group’s operations
and financial position. The Group has been closely monitoring
the impact of the pandemic on the Group’s business. Based on
the information currently available, the directors of the Company
confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the
financial or trading position of the Group from the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this report.

BHE T -ZFA=1+HIFE

U BEHERER

R-ZE-_ZF+A-_++H A&
B (e AE A ) EMetals X Limited
(TMLX]) (fE BB RA) KMLXE
ATHBRR(EABERA)GILE
Epes o RIEREDZ  ~AEER
B(EhsB) MR EEESRS
26,000,000 TTHER R ==
——F—A=1+—B3H-

MLX & 7B 52 B S 9 B BR A&
A HROINBRETET - RZF
“EFLA-F+EH AEEER
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

35.POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts!

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Amendments to HKFRS 16  COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions®

Amendments to HKFRS 9
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform+

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current”

Definition of Material*

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20209

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

35. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

’ Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
[ts consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

The amendments:

e add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The election on whether to apply the optional
concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction
basis;

e clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs; and

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing
on goods and services provided to customers and by removing
the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date
is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
1 January 2020, with early application permitted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IRE WIS RARMEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 BE_T-_EFA=+HILFE

35. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 3. EHEMEHZE-Z-ZTF X

242 APAC Resources Limited gp

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically,
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from
the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former
parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

e include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which
the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

e replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

e include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than simply
referring to “users” which was considered too broad when
deciding what information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 July 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

35.

36.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (continued)

The New Framework:
e reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

e introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

e discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;

e states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset
or liability; and

e discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of
the framework. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application
permitted. Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely on the New
Framework on its effective date in determining the accounting
policies especially for transactions, events or conditions that are not
otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 July 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 4.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five T AXREBEBRTRABPRERZE S 2EN
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published consolidated Z&AEMAE @ A AEED A 24

financial statements are set out below:

RESULTS
2020
—E_EHF
HK$’000
FET
(notes (a)
and (b))
(Wit (a)
L))
Revenue e 436,527
(Loss)/profit before taxation BERT(ER) #%F  (429,402)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fri8fiile,/ (Fs) 1
(Loss)/profit for the year PiN/NETE 2PN ] (429,401)
attributable to owners FE(BR),S5H
of the Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2020

—BCEF

HK$’000

FET

(notes (a)

and (b))

(Hi#t(a)

K (b))

Total assets BEMBE 3,526,631
Total liabilities BfEEE (90,823)
Equity attributable to owners ~ ZARAR)#EHB AJE(L 3,435,808

of the Company T
Notes:

(@  The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the assets and (@
the liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2020 are figures after application of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 16. Therefore, the financial
information for year 2020 may not be comparable to that of the previous years.

(b)  The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 and the (b)
assets and the liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2020 and 2019 are figures
after application of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. Therefore, the financial information
for years 2020 and 2019 may not be comparable to that of the previous years.

BHB®RE

ES

Year ended 30 June
BEASA=1THLEE
2019 2018 2017

2016

—E-NF ZT-)\F —T—tF —T—RF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAET TAT

(note (b))
(Kiztb))
109,227 156,200 100,476

609,260 321,145 617,373
(828) 6,970 (68,778)

608,432 328,115 548,595

EERERE

As at 30 June
RANB=+H
2019 2018 2017

HK$’000
TAET

123,103

(15,705)
(1,140)

(16,845)

2016

—E-NF ZB-)\F ZT—tF —T—RF

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
THET THETT T THETT
(note (b))
(KiaE®))
4,027,529 3,111,495 2,916,650 2,228,979
(13,042) (69,171) (28,300) (20,613)
4,014,487 3,052,324 2,888,350 2,208,366
Hrat -
REEH, AA=THRIFEZ%
AR AR ZERNA=THZEE
HMEERERE BN BREER([FBHBR
HER ) F165F1& 2 BF o @i - —F =
F2MBER A BB ARBEFE M ER
LR -
AEERE_F_RER_F-NFNA=F
HIEFE 2 #FEARREBN T —TER —
ZNFEARNB=THEZEENABRERAEE
BIIS IR S LRI 95k R B BB ISR S R 15
FEsHT A —T_TFR_T—NF
%Mﬁﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ&@ﬁ&iEZ%%ﬁﬂm
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